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PART I

ITEM1 BUSINESS

Pegasystems was incorporated in Massachusett881 OQir stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Manketler the symbol PEGA.
Our website address is www.pega.com. We are nbtding the information contained on our websitgas of, or incorporating it by referer
into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Unless tbatext otherwise requires, references in this AhRegport on Form 10-K to “the
Company,” “registrant,” “we,” “us” or “our” referat Pegasystems Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incogtes forward-looking statements within the mearmhgection 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 21E of the SéearExchange Act of 1934. These forward-lookitefements are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projecsibogt the industry and markets in which we opemattmanagement’s beliefs and
assumptions. In addition, other written or oratestgents that constitute forward-looking statememay be made by us or on our behalf. Words
such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,bélieve,” “seek,” “estimate,” “may,” or variatiorss such words and similar expressions are
intended to identify such forward-looking statensefthese statements are not guarantees of futdimpance and involve certain risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that are difficufiredict. We have identified certain risk factardtem 1A on this Annual Report on Form 10-
K that we believe could cause our actual resultiffer materially from the forward-looking statente we make. We do not intend to update
publicly any forward-looking statements, whethemagsult of new information, future events or otvise.

SEC reports and our Code of Conduct

We make available free of charge through our welsir Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report Form 10-Q and Current
Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these @wtsoon as reasonably practicable after werefgcally file such material with, or
furnish such material to, the Securities and Exgea@ommission. We make available on our websitertsfiled by our executive officers and
Directors on Forms 3, 4 and 5 regarding their ostmigrof our securities. Our Code of Conduct, andamendments to our Code of Conduct,
are also available on our website.

Overview

We develop, market, license and support softwareanage complex, changing business processes.uSimels process managem
(BPM) software, which is combined with a businades engine (BRE), is used by companies to autodetision making and the processes
implementing those decisions. Our technology alloustomers to change processes rapidly in resgordeanging business objectives and
requirements thus enhancing productivity and coitipetess. Our software utilizes standards-baselthtglogy that facilitates rapid solution
deployment and allows our customers to leverage éxésting technology investments.

We provide implementation, consulting, training aadhnical support services to help our custormrenease the business value from the
use of our software. We also maintain alliance# wsjtstems integrators and technology consultimgdfito support our customers.

Business strategy

Our goal is to be the leader of the BPM softwarekeiaby leveraging our patented technology unifyB8®M and rules. We focus our
sales efforts on target accounts, which are conegaori divisions within companies, and are typickllge organizations
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that are among the leaders in their industry. \#guently sell limited size initial licenses to tedarget accounts rather than selling large
application licenses. This allows our customerguizkly realize business value from our softward Emits their up-front investment. Once a
customer has realized this initial value, we woithvthe customer to identify opportunities for foli-on sales. Follow-on sales are often larger
than the initial sale, and the sales process ftmvieon sales is often shorter as a result of statdished relationship with the customer.

We have developed strategic partnerships with dtargs and systems integrators who are importaotitcsales efforts because they
influence buying decisions, help us to identifygrdtal customer opportunities and complement oftwswe with their technology and domain
expertise. These partners may deliver strategimbss planning, consulting, project managementmptementation services to our custom
Currently, our partners include Cognizant TechnplSglutions, IBM Corp., Kanbay International, InRinkerton Computer Consultants, Inc.,
Satyam Computer Services Ltd., Steria Group antu¥ar Corporation.

Pegasystems’ products

We provide a suite of rules-based BPM productsiaéel to help our customers plan, build and managabéss process management
solutions.

PegaRULES®

Our PegaRULES rules engine is a key differentiafayur rules-based BPM software. It is an infereangine that automatically analyzes
our customer’s data, determines which business apely to that data, initiates the appropriatér®ss processes and prompts users for any
additional inputs required. Our rules engine usemge-aware declarative rules that automaticatlggeize changes in data, such as changes il
age or account balance, and initiate the apprepbiasiness processes for that change, such a#ieation of eligibility for an account
upgrade. This combination of rules and processiralpkes our customers to better align their busipessesses with their business objectives.

PegaRULES Process Commander

PegaRULES Process Commander provides additionabddjes designed to model, simulate, execute,itnoand analyze results. Built
on the PegaRULES engine, PegaRULES Process Commafifels a browser-based development environmeetidion engine and
management dashboard, with a graphical, rapidisaldievelopment environment. This platform helpsesa wide range of business process
management problems and allows our customers &vdge existing technology investments by integgasioftware applications across a
common platform.

Pegasystems SmartBPM Suite and Solution Frameworks

Pegasystems SmartBPM Suite adds process analy@igsg simulation, enterprise integration, porteddration, content management
and/or case management to the PegaRULES Process&@utar capabilities.

We also offer purpose or industry-specific soluticameworks built on the capabilities of our PegaES Process Commander software.
PegaCARD Customer Process Manager, PegaHEALTH @astService Manager and Pega Customer Process Blaaagsolution
frameworks that enable financial services, heatéhead other organizations to quickly implement mexstomerfacing practices and proces:
bring new offerings to market, and provide spez&liprocessing to meet the needs of different mests, departments or geographies. We
offer frameworks that address exceptions managemnth are transactions that are not
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automatically processed by existing systems. Bgraating not only research and decision makingaksd the business processes necessary t
execute the decisions, our exceptions managemantefrvorks can reduce the costs and risks assoegidtedhanual processing, while

improving quality and efficiency. These framewoikslude PegaCARD Smart Dispute, Smart Investigatdhyments, Smart Investigate for
Securities, Smart Adjust, and PegaHEALTH Claimsohuaition Suite. We also offer industry frameworksrigtail banking and healthcare
payers, and cross industry frameworks that asaistwstomers in gaining value from the use of afitveare.

Markets and representative customers

The market for BPM software is driven by busineshas seek to close the execution gap that may betsveen their business objecti
and their existing business processes. Our tatgtdmers are large, industry-leading organizatfaned with managing complex and changing
processes. Our traditional customers have beea apanies in the financial services and healtheerkets. With PegaRULES Process
Commander, we are also able to offer solutionslimader range of companies as well as a broadgeraf industries.

Financial services

Financial services organizations continue to rexsaftware to improve the quality, accuracy anttiefficy of customer interactions and
transaction processing. Pegasystems’ customer gg@ral exceptions management products providdiligxiand functionality to allow
customers greater responsiveness to changing lsssiequirements. Representative financial sendastomers of ours include: Bank of
America Corporation, Barclays Bank PLC, Citigromp.| Credit Suisse Group, HSBC Holdings Plc, JPMorGhase & Co., National Austre
Bank Limited, Rabobank Group, Société Générale Gemd TD Bank Financial Group.

Healthcare

Healthcare organizations also continue to seelpmducts that integrate their front and back offiggatives and help improve customer
service, efficiency and productivity. Representatiealthcare customers of ours include: Aetna Wellpoint Inc., Blue Cross Blue Shield of
Massachusetts, Inc., Blue Cross & Blue Shield addhlsland, Computer Sciences Corporation, Grougdthi€ooperative, HealthNow New
York Inc., Hospitals Contribution Fund of Australitd. and ViPS/WebMD Corporation.

Other industries

PegaRULES Process Commander offers solutions toalyange of companies and industries. We sakrbhsed BPM technology
outside our traditional markets to customers imiaace, telecommunications, government, pharmamdstimanufacturing and travel services.
Customers include: American National Insurance Camgp American International Group (AIG), Amgen, The Adiee Corporation, Advance
Micro Devices (AMD), General Electric Company, R®dical Corporation, Starwood Hotels & Resorts Wiitte Inc., VetCentric, Inc. and
Vodafone Group, Plc.

Sales and marketing

We market our software and services primarily tigioa direct sales force. Strategic partnershipls eohsultants and systems integrators
are important to our sales efforts because thdyente buying decisions, help us to identify pasrustomer opportunities, and complement
our software with their technology and domain etiper Our partners include Cognizant Technology&ars, IBM Corp., Kanbay
International, Inc., Pinkerton Computer Consultahis., Satyam Computer Services Ltd., Steria Grang Virtusa Corporation.

To support our sales efforts, we conduct a broadea@f marketing programs, including industry tratlews, industry seminars, meetil
with industry analysts, and other direct and inctiraarketing efforts. Our consulting staff, busgesrtners, and other third parties also
generate sales leads. As of December 31, 2005abes and marketing staff consisted of 112 peoplédwide.
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Sales by geography
In 2005, 2004, and 2003, sales to customers bassitle of the United States represented 35%, 3292@#6, respectively, of our tot
revenue. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, we derived®tenue from the following geographic areas:

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
United State: $ 66,55¢ 65%  $65,74! 68% $79,12: 80%
United Kingdom 18,71 18% 11,93( 12% 12,041 12%
Europe, othe 11,17: 11% 13,24¢ 14% 6,64( 7%
Other 5,567 6% 5,54( 6% 1,50¢ 1%

$102,00° 10C%  $96,46: 10(%  $99,31: 10C%

In 2005 and 2004, no customer accounted for 10%ave of our total revenue. In 2003, two customeacheaccounted for approximately
15% and 12% of our total revenue, respectively.difeently operate in one operating segment — rhbesed business process managemel
BPM, software. We derive substantially all of opecating revenue from the sale and support of eoepgof similar products and services.
Substantially all of our assets are located withenUnited States.

Services and support

We offer services and support through three groopsprofessional services group which providesketatbusiness and technical
knowledge to assist our customers throughout tleessad deployment of our products; our global coosupport group which provides
support and maintenance for our customers; anéduweation services group which offers training paogs for our employees, customers and
partners. As of December 31, 2005, our servicessapgdort groups consisted of 155 people locatedirlO offices.

Professional services
Our professional services group helps companiegpartders implement and optimize our software. €l@sjects enable us to guide
customers through deployment of our software, dlogvaour workflow architects and business procagemation consultants to strengthen
their industry specific knowledge that can benfefitire product development. Many of our customéose to engage our professional
services group to expand their use of our softw@aditional business or product lines or autonaaditional processes within existing
solutions. In addition, systems integrators andsatiing firms, with which we have alliances, alssghour customers deploy our products.

Global customer support
Our global customer support group is primarily m@sgible for support of our software deployed at@urer sites. Support servic
include automated problem tracking, prioritizatamd escalation procedures, periodic preventive t@aémce, documentation updates, new
software releases and regularly scheduled meetiitgsour staff.

Education services
The success of our sales strategy for multiple¥elbn sales to target customers depends on our atailitain a larger number of partn
and customers to implement our technology. We dfééning for our staff, customers and partnersiriing is offered at our regional training
facilities in Cambridge, Massachusetts,
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Reading, England, and Sydney, Australia, at a fhéndy facility in San Francisco, California, or yriae specially arranged at customer sites.
Courses are designed to meet the specific roléreggants of process architects, system architextsgstem administrators. Our customer
also granted access to our web-based self serwital pThe password-protected site offers a pdotainformation important to the
implementation and use of our products. This pastalvailable at any time of the day or night asdrs may access it to interact with us at t
convenience and to view product information, saled marketing support materials, Pegasystems negve\aent information.

Research and development

Our product development priority is to continue axging the capabilities of our ru-based BPM technology. We intend to maintain
extend the support of our existing solution framekgpand we may choose to invest in additional &awrks which incorporate the latest
business innovations. We also intend to maintatheattend the support of popular hardware platfolwpgrating systems, databases and
connectivity options to facilitate deployment. @aal with all of our products is to enhance prodiagiabilities, ease of use, ease of
implementation, long-term flexibility and the abjlito provide improved customer service.

We believe that the challenge of enhancing futemrogsmance and maintaining technology leadershipdgpend on our ability to
anticipate changes, maintain and enhance our duyreducts, develop new products and keep pacethatincreasingly sophisticated
requirements of our current and prospective custenwge must develop products that conform to ostamuers’ information technology
standards, scale to meet the needs of large eisespoperate globally and cost less than a corbjgaisternal development effort. Our
development organization is responsible for produchitecture, core technology development, protksting and quality assurance.

As of December 31, 2005, our development groupistetsof 96 people and has been significantly sapphted by the use of contrac
resources. During 2005, 2004, and 2003, reseatllevelopment expenses were approximately $191®mi$19.9 million, and $21.6
million, respectively. We expect that we will canie to commit significant resources to our prodasearch and development in the future to
maintain our leadership position.

Competition

The BPM software market is increasingly and int§nsempetitive, rapidly changing and highly fragntesh as current competitors
expand their product offerings and new compani¢srehe market. Competitors vary in size and ingt@pe and breadth of the products and
services offered. We encounter competition from:

» Enterprise content management-based vendors su€lebiet Corporation;

» Enterprise application integration vendors suchIBCO Software Inc. and webMethods In
» Business process management vendors such as Fugtgombardi Software, Inc.;

» Business rules engine vendors such as Fair Isagmofion and ILOG Inc.

» Companies that provide application specific busma®cess management software for the financialcges, healthcare, insurance
and other specific markets such as Chordiant, Dgteths, Carreker Corporation, Oracle Corporatiomai$Stream Technologies
Ltd. and Trintech Group PL(

» Current customers’ information technology departtaewhich may seek to modify existing systems atettep proprietary systems.
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We are one of the leading companies in the ovBfRaM software market, and have a strong presenerdeptions management in the
financial services and healthcare markets. We baea most successful competing for customers whasi@esses are characterized by a high
degree of change, complexity and size. We belikatthe principal competitive factors within ournket include:

» Product adaptability, scalability, functionalitycaperformance

» Proven success in delivering costs-savings andiefity improvements;

» Eastwof-use for developers, business units anc-users;

» Timely development and introduction of new produantgl product enhancements;
» Establishment of a significant base of referencauers

« Ability to integrate with other products and teclogies;

» Customer service and suppc

* Product price;

* Vendor reputation; and

* Relationships with systems integratc

Employees
As of December 31, 2005, we had 458 employeeshohw370 were based in the United States, 15 weredia Canada, 63 were based

in Europe, and 10 were based in Australia. Of titalt112 were in sales and marketing, 155 perfdromasulting and customer support, 96
were in research and development, and 95 werenningstration.

Backlog of license, maintenance and consulting rerees

As of December 31, 2005, we had software licensenaaintenance agreements and fixed fee professsenates agreements w
customers expected to result in approximately $44lgon of revenue in 2006. As of December 31, 20@e had software license and
maintenance agreements and fixed fee professiendtes agreements with customers expected totiesapproximately $29.5 million of
revenue in 2005. Under such agreements, we must dektain conditions prior to recognizing revenland there can be no assurance when, if
ever, we will be able to satisfy all such condisan each instance. We do not believe that bacldsglescribed above, is a meaningful indic
of future financial performance.

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS
Factors that may affect future results

The following important factors could cause ouatbusiness and financial results to differ matgrifrom those contained in forward-
looking statements made in this Annual Report om¥b0-K or elsewhere by management from time t@tim

Factors relating to our revenues

In recent years, we have typically licensed outvearfe to new customers pursuant to perpetual liesmather than term licenses, which
has the effect of decreasing the amount of futenma ticense renewal revenue and cash flow, anddcduce our overall future license
revenue and cash flow if we are unable to increheduture volume of license transactions prior years, we typically licensed our softear
under term licenses requiring the customer to nmasethly payments over the license term. More rdgewe have typically been selling
perpetual licenses to our software with a singlerlse fee being payable at the commencement ttémse (although our term license revenue
exceeded our perpetual license revenue in 2005cdaidew large term licenses). We expect that pgagbdicenses for new customers will
continue to be a significant portion of
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total license signings, although we expect to einternew term licenses in certain instances. Garaf perpetual licenses has the effect, with
respect to such transactions, of increasing oansie revenue and cash flow in the short term, bbdé@reasing the amount of renewal license
revenue and cash flow in the future. If we are Imédincrease the volume of new license transastigiven the anticipated decline in the
renewal revenue from term license arrangementdjaanse revenue and cash flow will likely declinduture periods.

The volume of our license transactions began toeee in the second half of 2005, and we may nableto sustain this increased
volume of license transactions unless we can peosidficient high quality professional servicegjiimg and maintenance resources to enable
our customers to realize significant business vélam our software Our customers typically request professionalises/and training to
assist them in implementing our products. Our qusts also purchase maintenance on our productmiostall cases. As a result, an increase
in the number of license transactions is likelyntcrease demand for professional services, traiaimymaintenance relating to our products.
Given that our volume of license transactions bdgancrease in the second half of 2005, we ardteiphat we will need to provide our
customers with more professional services, traimind maintenance to enable our customers to resitinéficant business value from our
software. Accordingly, we have been hiring additiopersonnel in these areas and improving our ‘@erding” process to ramp up new
personnel in a shorter period of time. We have bisn increasingly enabling our partners and ostocoers through training and the creation
of “centers of excellence” to create an expandedense of people that are skilled in the implem#ateof our products. However, if we are
unable to provide sufficient high quality professbservices, training or maintenance resourcesit@ustomers, our customers may not re
sufficient business value from our products toifugbllow-on sales, which could impact our futuierancial performance.

We are increasingly entering into smaller initiaddnses with new customers, which could adverdtdgteour financial performance if v
are not successful in obtaining follow-on businesm these customersn 2005, we increasingly entered into small initieénses with our ne
customers rather than selling large applicatioanges, to allow these new customers to realizenbessivalue from our software quickly and
a limited up-front investment. We expect this trémdontinue in the near future. Once a customsrréalized this initial value, we work with
the customer to identify opportunities for follow-sales, which are typically larger than the ihgizle. However, we may not be successful in
demonstrating this initial value to some customtnsreasons relating to the performance of oudpots, the quality of the services and
support we provide for our products, or externabmns. For these customers, we may not obtainifadlo sales, and our license revenue will
be limited to the smaller initial sale. This coldever average transaction size and adversely aff@ctinancial performance.

Our term license revenue will decrease in the sterh if we increasingly enter into term licensethwontract provisions that require
the term license revenue to be recognized ovetetine of the agreement as license payments becoenerdatably over the term of the license
when paid in advance, or if existing customers oliorenew their term licensea. significant portion of our total revenue has ba¢mibutable
to term licenses, including term license renewdlstorically, a significant portion of our term éinse revenue has been recognized as the
present value of the committed future term licefiess, as described in the Critical Accounting Redicontained in this Annual Report on F
10-K. In the future, we expect to increasingly emméo term licenses with contract provisions trejuire the term license revenue to be
recognized over the term of the agreement as pagnbecome due, or ratably over the term of thenBeavhen payments are made in advance.
This would have the effect, with respect to a pattir agreement, of reducing our term license regen the initial period but increasing the
amount of recurring future term license revenuérduthe remainder of the license term, but woultlal@ange the expected cash flow. As a
result, our term license revenue will decreaséénghort term. In addition, while historically ajoréty of customers have renewed their term
licenses, there can be no assurance that a mapbitystomers will continue to renew expiring tdicenses. A decrease in term license ren
revenue absent offsetting revenue from other ssunceild have a material adverse effect on futurarftial performance.
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Our professional services revenue is dependentsigraficant extent on closing license transactiarth new customersWe derive a
substantial portion of our professional servicegneie from implementation of software licensed bwrtustomers and the development of
applications by our customers using our softwaretdasingly, we are relying on business partnepsdvide the implementation services for
our customers, thus reducing the amount of pradessiservices revenue we derive relative to a gigeel of license revenue. Accordingly, i
imperative that we close more license transactigtis new customers if we are to maintain or grow services revenue.

Factors relating to fluctuations in our financial esults

The timing of our license revenue is difficult tedlict accurately, due to the uncertain timing loé tompletion of implementati
services, product acceptance by the customer arging of additional salesOur quarterly revenue may fluctuate significanitypart because
a large portion of our revenue in any quartertigiattable to product acceptance or license rendwyal relatively small number of customers.
Fluctuations also reflect our policy of recognizigyenue upon product acceptance or, in the casgroflicenses, license renewal. In some
cases, customers will not accept products untietiekof a lengthy sales cycle and an implementatéyiod, typically ranging from six to
twelve months. Our PegaRULES products typicallyehashorter sales cycle and implementation pehiad bur historical application
products. However, we may experience longer acoeptperiods in some cases with respect to theskigi® Any increases in our sales or
acceptance cycles may adversely affect our finhpeidormance, due in part to the recognition désataff and commission costs in advance
of revenue recognition. In addition, risks over gfive have little or no control, including custosidrudgets, staffing allocation, and internal
authorization reviews, can significantly affect 8ses and acceptance cycles. Changes requestedtoyners may further delay product
implementation and revenue recognition.

Our financial results may be adversely affecteddfare required to change certain estimates, judgmand positions relative to our
income taxedn the ordinary course of conducting a global besienterprise, there are many transactions aocdlatibns undertaken whose
ultimate tax outcome cannot be certain. Some afehmcertainties arise as a consequence of pasitierhave taken regarding valuation of
deferred tax assets, transactions and arrangemeats among related parties, transfer pricing fondactions with our subsidiaries, and
potential challenges to nexus and tax credit es¢imidVe estimate our exposure to unfavorable outsamlated to these uncertainties and
estimate the probability for such outcomes. Althouwge believe our estimates are reasonable, noassican be given that the final tax
outcome of these matters or our current estimagarding these matters will not be different frofmatvis reflected in our historical income tax
provisions, returns and accruals. Such differenmeshanges in estimates relating to potentiakdifices, could have a material impact,
unfavorable or favorable, on our income tax praurisi require us to change the recorded value efdef tax assets and adversely affect our
financial results. See further discussion on pa&je 1

Our quarterly operating results have varied consadgy in the past and are likely to vary considdsain the future Historically, most of
our revenue in a quarter has been attributablestoal number of transactions. This has causedewenue to fluctuate, sometimes
significantly. These fluctuations could cause ubgaunprofitable on an annual or quarterly basiktarfail to meet analysts’ expectations
regarding our earnings or revenue. Our currentegiyeto rely more heavily on third party servicesupport of license sales may increase t
fluctuations because we will have less control dlkertiming of closing sales or customer acceptarfi@r software. While future fluctuations
in our quarterly operating results may be buffecedome extent by the increasing percentages diotalrrevenue from maintenance services
and by an increase in the number of license trdiose; we expect those fluctuations will continaée significant at least in the near term. We
plan selling and marketing expenses, product dpwedémt and other expenses based on anticipatec fiteuenue. If revenue falls below
expectations, financial performance is likely todatversely affected because only small portiorexpenses vary with revenue. As a result,
period-to-period comparisons of operating resuksret necessarily meaningful and should not hedelpon to predict future performance.
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We are investing heavily in sales and marketing prodessional services in anticipation of increasiednse signings, and we may
experience decreased profitability or losses ifare unsuccessful in increasing the value of licesigrings in the futuréddemand for our
products began to increase in the second half @5 2@hich resulted in an increase in the valueenf ficense signings in the second half of
2005 compared to the first half of 2005. We anttépthat the demand for our products will contitmecrease in 2006 compared to 2005.
Consequently, we have been increasing our invedtimesales and marketing by hiring additional saled marketing personnel. We also
anticipate that we will need to provide our custesngith more professional services, training andnteaance as a result of this anticipated
increase in demand, and have been hiring additper@onnel in these areas. These investments baubtad in increased fixed costs that do
not vary with the level of revenue. If the antidigéhdemand for our products does not materializé,vee are unsuccessful in increasing the
value of new license signings, we could experiagte@eased profitability or losses as a result e$¢hincreased fixed costs, and our financial
performance and results of operations could beradieaffected.

Factors relating to our products and markets

We will need to develop new products, evolve egisines, and adapt to technology charTechnical developments, custon
requirements, programming languages and indusindsirds change frequently in our markets. As dtressiccess in current markets and new
markets will depend upon our ability to enhanceaenitrproducts, to develop and introduce new pradtiet meet customer needs, keep pace
with technology changes, respond to competitivelpets, and achieve market acceptance. Productafeweht requires substantial
investments for research, refinement and testihgrd can be no assurance that we will have suifticesources to make necessary product
development investments. We may experience diffesithat will delay or prevent the successful dgwment, introduction or implementation
of new or enhanced products. Inability to introdocémplement new or enhanced products in a timeyner would adversely affect future
financial performance. Our products are complexraagt contain errors. Errors in products will reguiis to ship corrected products to
customers. Errors in products could cause thedbes delay in market acceptance or sales and tejghe diversion of development resour
injury to our reputation, or increased service amgranty costs which would have an adverse effedtmancial performance.

The market for our offerings is increasingly anteimsely competitive, rapidly changing, and highbgfmentedThe market for business
process management software and related implenmmtabnsulting and training services is intensmynpetitive and highly fragmented. We
currently encounter significant competition fronteimal information systems departments of potetigxisting customers that develop
custom software. We also compete with companigstainget the customer interaction and workflow neaskand professional service
organizations that develop custom software in aoetjon with rendering consulting services. Compatifor market share and pressure to
reduce prices and make sales concessions are tikalgrease. Many competitors have far greateruess and may be able to respond more
quickly and efficiently to new or emerging techrgiles, programming languages or standards or togesaim customer requirements or
preferences. Competitors may also be able to deyretgter managerial and financial resources toldpypromote and distribute products and
provide related consulting and training servicdsereé can be no assurance that we will be ablertpete successfully against current or future
competitors or that the competitive pressures fégeds will not materially adversely affect our mess, operating results, and financial
condition.

We have historically sold to the financial servieesl healthcare markets, and rapid changes or cligstion in these markets could
affect the level of demand for our produdtte have historically derived a significant portioiour revenue from customers in the financial
services and healthcare markets, and sales toithad@ts are important for our future growth, althlo we have been increasing our sales to
other markets. Competitive pressures, industry alaetion, decreasing operating margins, regulatbignges and privacy concerns affect the
financial condition of our customers and their inginess to buy. In addition, customers’ purchagatjerns in these industries for large
technology projects are somewhat discretionary.fifacial services market is undergoing intenseestic and international consolidation,
and consolidation has been increasing in the hesaithmarket. Consolidation may interrupt normalibgypehaviors and increase the

11



Table of Contents

volatility of our operating results. In recent ygaseveral of our customers have been merged goltidated. Future mergers or consolidations
may cause a decline in revenues and adverselyt affieduture financial performance. All of thesetfars affect the level of demand for our
products from customers in these industries, amttcadversely affect our business, operating resuit financial condition.

We rely on certain third-party relationshipale have a number of relationships with third partteat are significant to sales, marketing
and support activities, and product developmemtresf We rely on relational database managemetemyapplications and development tool
vendors, software and hardware vendors, largemyistiegrators and technology consulting firms tovidle marketing and sales opportunities
for the direct sales force and to strengthen oodpets through the use of industry-standard toodsilities. We also have relationships with
third parties that distribute our products. Theas be no assurance that these companies, mosiaf héwe significantly greater financial and
marketing resources, will not develop or marketpigis that compete with ours in the future or wilt otherwise end their relationships with
or support of us.

We face risks from operations and customers bastgide of the U.SSales to customers headquartered outside of thted)States
represented approximately 35% of our total reveni2905, 32% in 2004, and 20% in 2003. We, in fladugh our wholly-owned subsidiaries
based in the United Kingdom, Singapore, Canadaparistkalia, market products and render consultimd) teaining services to customers ba
in Canada, the United Kingdom, France, GermanyNihtherlands, Belgium, Switzerland, Austria, IrelaBweden, South Africa, Mexico,
Australia, Hong Kong, and Singapore. We have eistaddl offices in Europe and Australia. We beliéheg growth will necessitate expanded
international operations requiring a diversion @&frmagerial attention and financial resources. Weigate hiring additional personnel to
accommodate international growth, and we may aiserénto agreements with local distributors, reprdatives, or resellers. If we are unable
to do one or more of these things in a timely manmar growth, if any, in our foreign operationdivdie restricted, and our business, operating
results, and financial condition could be mateyialhd adversely affected.

In addition, there can be no assurance that web&ilible to maintain or increase international miadlemand for our products. Many of
our international sales are denominated in U.SadlAccordingly, any appreciation of the valudled U.S. dollar relative to the currencies of
those countries in which we sell our products mlagg@us at a competitive disadvantage by effegticeking our products more expensive as
compared to those of our competitors. Additionsksiinherent in our international business actsitjenerally include unexpected changes in
regulatory requirements, increased tariffs andratitagle barriers, the costs of localizing proddetdocal markets and complying with local
business customs, longer accounts receivable patérd difficulties in collecting foreign accoungseivable, difficulties in enforcing
contractual and intellectual property rights, héégted risks of political and economic instabilitye possibility of nationalization or
expropriation of industries or properties, diffite in managing international operations, potdgtedverse tax consequences (including
restrictions on repatriating earnings and the thoé&double taxation”), increased accounting amtgéinal control expenses, and the burden of
complying with a wide variety of foreign laws. Tleezan be no assurance that one or more of themedadll not have a material adverse
effect on our foreign operations, and, consequintiaur business, operating results, and finanoialdition.

Furthermore, we conduct a portion of our businassurrencies other than the United States dollar.r@venues and operating results are
adversely affected when the dollar strengthengivel#o other currencies and are positively affdatden the dollar weakens. Changes in the
value of major foreign currencies, particularly Bwitish Pound and the Euro relative to the Unitdtes dollar, could adversely affect our
revenues and operating results.

Factors relating to our internal operations and pential liabilities

We depend on certain key personnel, and must leetalgttract and retain qualified personnel in flaéure. The business is dependent on
a number of key, highly skilled technical, managkiGonsulting, sales, and marketing personnelydicg Mr. Alan Trefler, our Chief
Executive Officer. The loss of key personnel could
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adversely affect financial performance. We do raehany significant key-man life insurance on afficers or employees and do not plan to
obtain any. Our success will depend in large paithe ability to hire and retain qualified personfidéie number of potential employees who
have the extensive knowledge of computer hardwadeoperating systems needed to develop, sell amttaimaour products is limited, and
competition for their services is intense, andetean be no assurance that we will be able tocatirad retain such personnel. If we are unable
to do so, our business, operating results and dinhnondition could be materially adversely aféstt

We may experience significant errors or securéy in our product and services, and could facedpot liability and warranty claims
as a resultDespite testing prior to their release, softwadpcts frequently contain errors or security flaespecially when first introduced
when new versions are released. Errors in our soétywroducts could affect the ability of our proguo work with other hardware or software
products, or could delay the development or releasew products or new versions of products. Tétection and correction of any security
flaws can be time consuming and costly. Softwaoelpct errors and security flaws in our productsawices could expose us to product
liability or warranty claims as well as harm oupuéation, which could impact our future sales afdarcts and services. Our license agreements
typically contain provisions intended to limit thature and extent of our risk of product liabilgd warranty claims. There is a risk that a ¢
might interpret these terms in a limited way orlddwld part or all of these terms to be unenfobbeaAlso, there is a risk that these contract
terms might not bind a party other than the dicesttomer. Furthermore, some of our licenses withcastomers are governed by ndrss. law
and there is a risk that foreign law might givdaess or different protection. Although we have experienced any material product liability
claims to date, a product liability suit or acticdaiming a breach of warranty, whether or not nogigius, could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and our resgsurc

We face risks related to intellectual property oiaior appropriation of our intellectual propertygtits.We rely primarily on a
combination of copyright, trademark and trade ssdesvs, as well as confidentiality agreementsraiqet our proprietary rights. We have
obtained patents from the United States PatenfTeaxdemark Office relating to the architecture of systems. We cannot assure that such
patents will not be invalidated or circumventedtat rights granted thereunder or the claims caeththerein will provide us with competitive
advantages. Moreover, despite our efforts to ptatecproprietary rights, unauthorized parties ratigmpt to copy aspects of our products or
to obtain the use of information that we regargraprietary. In addition, the laws of some foreg@untries do not protect our proprietary ri¢
to as great an extent as do the laws of the UiStates. There can be no assurance that our meanstefting our proprietary rights will be
adequate or that our competitors will not indepetigedevelop similar technology.

We are not aware that any of our products infritigeproprietary rights of third parties. There &&mno assurance, however, that third
parties will not claim infringement by us with regp to current or future products. Although we m@ftéto limit the amount and type of our
contractual liability for infringement of the praetary rights of third parties, these limitatiorftem contain certain exclusions, and we cannc
assured that these limitations will be applicalrid anforceable in all cases. Even if these limatadiare found to be applicable and enforceable
our liability to our customers for these types lafims could be material in amount given the sizeastain of our transactions. We expect that
software product developers will increasingly bbjeat to infringement claims as the number of paigl@and competitors in our industry
segment grows and the functionality of productdifferent industry segments overlaps. Any suchnetgiwith or without merit, could be time-
consuming, result in costly litigation, cause pretdghipment delays, or require us to enter intalgyor licensing agreements. Such royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may not be abel on terms acceptable to us or at all, whichcchave a material adverse effect upon our
business, operating results, and financial condlitio

Investor confidence and share value may be advwensglacted if our management is unable to providerqualified assessment
regarding the effectiveness of our internal contreér financial reporting, or if our independengistered public accounting firm is unable to
provide us with an unqualified attestation regaglimanageme’s assessment, for our 2006 fiscal year or beyasdequired by Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley
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Act of 2002The Securities and Exchange Commission, as dirdstedkbction 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2@@pted rules requiring
public companies to include a report of managerarthe company’s internal control over financigdaging in its annual reports on Form 10-
K that contains an assessment by management effdetiveness of the company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting. In addition, the
company’s independent registered public accouriingmust attest to and report on management’'ssassent of the effectiveness of the
company'’s internal control over financial reportif@r the year ended December 31, 2005, managesraesgéssment is included on page 37 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our independegistered public accounting firm’s attestatiomisuded on page 38 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. For 2005, management’s assags@nd our registered public accounting firmtestation, concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 3105 was not effective due to a material weakiressir ability to properly apply generally
accepted accounting principles as they relatedaehognition of revenue on transactions that éom@mplex and non-standard terms and a
material weakness relating to our ability to mageusate estimates impacting our tax provision.feture periods, although we intend to
diligently and regularly review and update our intd control over financial reporting in order taseire compliance with the Section 404
requirements, our management may not be able taderan unqualified assessment for our 2006 figeal or beyond, and our independent
registered public accounting firm may not be ablprovide ungualified opinions on management’s sgsent and on the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiiog any of these years. Any such event could téswn adverse reaction in the financial
marketplace due to a loss of investor confidendérreliability of our financial statements, whighimately could negatively impact the
market price of our shares.

ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable

ITEM 2 PROPERTIES

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing, s, and research and development operation®eageld in an 85,228 square foot
leased facility in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Thsddor this facility expires in 2013, with the ioptto extend for two additional five-year
periods. We also lease space for our other offitéise United States, Canada, Australia, Franoe tlam United Kingdom. These leases expire
at various dates through 2010. We believe thattimadil or alternative space will be available asded in the future on commercially
reasonable terms.

ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not applicable.

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, there &vap matters submitted to a vote of security halc
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names of our executive officers and certaiarinftion about them are set forth below as of Fatyr, 2006:

Name Age Position(s) and Office(s) Helc

Alan Trefler 49 Chief Executive Officer and Chairmi

Douglas I. Kre 43 Vice President of Global Servic

Michael Pyle 51 Senior Vice President of Product Developn
Christopher J. Sulliva 46 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer arrdasure!

There are no family relationships among any ofexcutive officers or directors.

Alan Trefler,a founder of Pegasystems, serves as Chief Exeddffiger and Chairman and has been a Director siveerganized in
1983. Prior to 1983, he managed an electronic ftraghsfer product for TMI Systems Corporation, #iveare and services company.
Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree in economics anthpater science from Dartmouth College.

Douglas I. Krajoined Pegasystems in November 2004 as Vice Prasidéslobal Services. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Keaved as Vice
President at eLoyalty Corp., a consulting compam@cmlizing in customer relationship managemerdant2000 to 2001, Mr. Kra served as
President of Zefer Corp., an internet consultimgpfiPrior to Zefer, Mr. Kra spent ten years at Cadge Technology Partners Inc. in a variety
of senior roles. He holds a B.A. in Computer Sogefiom Brandeis University and an M.B.A. in finarfoem New York University Stern
School of Business.

Michael Pylejoined Pegasystems in 1985 and has served as S&o@President of Product Development since Aug@@$i0. Including
his positions with Pegasystems, Mr. Pyle’s profassl background encompasses almost thirty yeagefofare development and managerial
experience throughout Europe and the United StitesPyle completed his B.C.S. specializing in Cantgp Science and Systems
Programming at the Civil Service College in London.

Christopher J. Sullivajpined Pegasystems in July 2001. In August 200ly&®appointed Senior Vice President, Chief Firedr@fficer
and Treasurer. From August 2000 to July 2001, heedeas CFO at Event Zero, an IT consulting comp&nym December 1998 to August
2000, he was the CFO and Executive Vice PresideAMS Holding Group, a software and information\sees provider to the insurance
industry. Previously, he served as Vice PresidéRirmance at Compaq Computer Corporation, a compmaepany. His prior experience also
includes service as Senior Vice President of Fieaid-isher Scientific International, Inc., a dsttor of clinical and scientific laboratory
equipment, and as Vice President of Finance at@igiquipment Corporation. He holds a B.S.B.A. @éegand an M.B.A. degree from Babson
College.
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PART Il

ITEM5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISS UER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The following table sets forth the range of higll &ow sales prices of our common stock on the NAgD®@lobal Market for 2005 and
2004. Our common stock is traded under the NASDA@I®| “PEGA”. As of February 27, 2006, we had apgmately 71 stockholders of
record and approximately 16,990 beneficial ownéisuo common stock. On February 27, 2006, the otpsiale price of our common stock
was $8.15. We have never declared or paid anydiaglends on our common stock. We intend to retainearnings to finance future growth,
and therefore have not paid dividends, nor do vesgutly anticipate paying any dividends in thedeeable future.

High Low
2005
First Quartel $ 9.1C $5.2C
Second Quarte $ 6.11 $4.8¢
Third Quartel $ 6.61 $5.5¢
Fourth Quarte $ 7.5¢ $5.8¢
High Low
2004
First Quarte! $11.7¢ $7.72
Second Quarte $ 9.9t $7.72
Third Quartel $ 8.7¢ $5.71
Fourth Quarte $ 8.5¢ $6.5¢

At the end of 2004, our Board of Directors authedizhe repurchase of up to $10 million of our @rtding common stock. The purche
may be made from time to time on the open markat privately negotiated transactions. Under thedi® Repurchase Program”, shares may
be purchased in such amounts as market conditiansmt, subject to regulatory and other considenati During 2005, we repurchased
957,112 shares for $5.9 million under the ShareuRgtase Program, all in open market purchasesSHaee Repurchase Program expires on
June 30, 2006. The Share Repurchase Program msuspended or discontinued at any time without pragice. Our repurchase activity un
the Share Repurchase Program through Decembef3 v#2as as follows:

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as Pai

Total Number Approximate Dollar

of Shares
Purchased (1

Average Price

of Publicly
Announced Share

Value Of Shares That
May Yet Be Purchase:
Under The Share

Paid per Repurchase Repurchase Program
Period Share Program (in thousands)
March 200t 163,00( $ 5.71 163,00( $ 9,06¢
April 2005 — $ — — $ 9,06¢
May 2005 148,43¢ $ 5.67 148,43¢ $ 8,22¢
June 200¢ 97,68: $ 5.94 97,68: $ 7,64
July 2005 — $ — = $ 7,64
August 200¢ 213,24t $ 6.2¢ 213,24¢ $ 6,30¢
September 200 180,94 $ 6.0¢€ 180,94 $ 5,20¢
October 200* — $ — — $ 5,20¢
November 200! 98,90( $ 6.9 98,90( $ 4,52¢
December 200 54,90( $ 7.3C 54,90( $ 4,12
Total 957,11: $ 6.14 957,11:

(1) All shares were purchased pursuant to the ShararBlegse Progran
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In December 2005, we issued 27,766 shares of oummm stock in connection with the exercise of waisassued as part of the
consideration for our acquisition of 1mind Corparatin 2002. These warrants were exercised by tmmér stockholders of 1mind. The
consideration for these exercises was paid indha bf the surrender of 3,774 shares of our comsatock under the warrants as a net exercise,
which shares were valued at a total of $27 thoudaaskd on the average closing price of our comstack over the ten consecutive trading
days ending on the third trading day prior to theedf exercise. We issued these 27,766 sharesgnir® the registration exemption under
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.

As of December 31, 2005, there were outstandingams to purchase 42,036 shares of our common stitcla weighted average fair
value of $2.54 per share and a weighted averageisggrice of $6.51 per share.
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ITEM 6 SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presdréniv have been derived from our consolidated firedrstatements. This data may |
be indicative of our future condition or resultsopierations and should be read in conjunction thitanagement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” gr&consolidated financial statements and acconmpgmptes.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(in thousands, except per share date
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Total revenue $102,00° $ 96,46 $ 99,31 $ 97,40¢ $ 95,06:
Income from operation 511 5,744 14,67« 11,47¢ 6,534
Income before provision (benefit) for income ta 4,612 11,12¢ 21,83! 17,19: 13,53¢
Net income 4,71¢ 7,554 17,68 15,291 12,53¢
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 0.1z $ 0.21 $ 0.51 $ 0.4t $ 0.3¢

Diluted $ 0.1c $ 0.2 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.4c: $ 0.37
Weighted average number of common shares outsigr

Basic 35,77¢ 35,691 34,51¢ 33,83t 32,671

Diluted 36,46 37,04: 35,751 35,98( 33,43¢

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $114,73! $ 97,36( $ 87,93t $ 62,69¢ $ 33,017
Working capital 130,89: 118,88( 95,97¢ 75,50! 57,15
Long-term license installments, net of unearned inténestme 31,37 44,34« 53,66¢ 48,66 43,15¢
Total asset 205,36 194,25! 184,72¢ 157,35¢ 125,07.
Capital lease obligation, including current port 16€ 262 — — 81
Stockholder’ equity 165,80: 165,20( 153,17: 130,92 104,95¢
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ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Business Overview

Our business is comprised of developing and licenbiusiness process management (BPM) softwarertoustomers, and providing
professional services, maintenance and trainingdse customers to maximize the business value fising our software. We focus our sales
efforts on target accounts, which are companiativisions within companies, and are typically laggganizations that are among the leade
their industry. We frequently sell limited sizetial licenses to these target accounts rather skdimg large application licenses. This allows
our customers to quickly realize business valumfour software and limits their up-front investmedhce a customer has realized this initial
value, we work with the customer to identify oppmities for follow-on sales. Follow-on sales artenflarger than the initial sale, and the sales
process for follow-on sales is often shorter assalt of the established relationship with the comr.

Our customers typically request professional ses/&nd training to assist them in implementingpyoducts. Our customers also
purchase maintenance on our products in almositafitions, which is typically for annually reneviaberms, and includes rights to upgrades
and new releases, incident resolution and techagsittance. We provide maintenance and trainirngces directly to most of our customers.
Professional services are provided directly bynusome situations and through our network of pastireother cases. The amount of
professional services provided by our partnersbie@s increasing in recent years. By utilizing theseners, we have significantly increased
the supply of skilled service consultants that assist our customers. In certain situations, ounpeas are also able to offer lower rates to our
customers due to the use of resources locatedh@r obuntries, thereby reducing the overall cosin& of our partners have more headcount
dedicated to consulting services for our produtamtwe have. We believe that this trend is goodfwrbusiness because of the breadth of
domain expertise that our partners can bring totgsls. We expect that our services revenue may gnore slowly over time than if we did
not rely on our partners.

The percentage of our license revenue from our REg&S Process Commander software and related solfrtimeworks has been
increasing. These products often require less imefgation assistance than prior generations o$oftware products. In many cases this has
enabled us to shorten the length of the sales gsamed the time required to receive customer aaneptof the software product. Significantly,
PegaRULES Process Commander and solution framewarkbe used more broadly by customers within madglittonal financial services and
healthcare markets, as well as by customers outider traditional markets, enabling us to sekexpanded markets.

In recent years, we have typically licensed outvearfe to new customers pursuant to perpetual legnsder which a customer pays a
single license fee at the commencement of thediegrather than term licenses. Under term liceasestomer pays a monthly fee during the
license term and must renew the license for additifees to continue to use the software afteotiggnal term. We expect that perpetual
licenses for new customers will continue to begaigicant portion of total license signings, altigbuwe expect to enter into new term licenses
in certain instances. Our use of perpetual licersther than term licenses has the effect, witheesto a given transaction, of increasing our
license revenue and cash flow in the short terrhpbdecreasing the amount of renewal revenue astl fiow in the future.

Generally, in prior periods, we have recognizedptessent value of committed future term licensenpayts upon customer acceptance at
the beginning of the license term. In the future,expect to increasingly enter into term licensih wontract provisions that require the term
license revenue to be recognized over the terrheofgreement as payments become due, or ratabiyeveerm of the license when payments
are made in advance. This would have the effeth keispect to a particular agreement, of reducimgerm license revenue in the initial per
but increasing the amount of recurring future téomnse revenue during the remainder of the liceéassa, but would not change the expected
cash flow.
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Overview of Results of Operations

While the value of license signings in 2005 wag/anbdestly higher than the value of license sigsiimg2004, license signings duri
the second half of 2005 improved significantly frdme value of license signings in the first hal605. The increase in the value of license
signings for the second half of 2005 was due tdrtbeeased success of our strategy of focusingnitialiand follow-on sales to target accour
Actual license signings are likely to fluctuate smterably quarter to quarter.

Total revenue in 2005 increased 6% to $102.0 milfrom $96.5 million in 2004 driven primarily by$.5 million increase in
maintenance revenue. Professional services amingaievenue increased $1.8 million and licensemee decreased $0.8 million. The $4.5
million increase in maintenance revenue resultethfan expanded installed base of software andheehjgroportion of perpetual licenses in
installed base, which yield greater maintenancemag than term licenses. Increased professionatssrcosts during 2005 reduced our
service gross margin from 52% in 2004 to 42% inR0the increase in these costs reflects an invedtinexpanding the number of trained
services personnel, including new Pegasystems aridgy staff, to better meet the anticipated ingeda our new license signings.

Income before provision for income taxes decreaséd.6 million in 2005 from $11.1 million in 200@rimarily due to a $2.8 million
decrease in services gross margin, a $1.6 milhiorease in operating expenses, a $1.9 million wnédte change in other income and expense
related to foreign currency transactions, and & $tllion decrease in license margin, partiallysetfby a $1.2 million improvement in interest
income. Net income for 2005 decreased to $4.7 anillfom $7.6 million in 2004, due to the decreassmcome before provision for income
taxes partially offset by a lower effective taxerét 2005.

We generated $25.3 million in cash flow from opierat during 2005, and ended the period with $11illfon in cash and short-term
investments and $57.9 million in combined short Emg)-term license installment receivables.

Consistent with our strategy of working with acctsuim target customer organizations to identify apnities for follow-on sales, a
majority of our revenue in 2005 was from existinggtomers who chose to add on to, renew or exteziduke of our software. However, new
customers (meaning companies or organizationasions which are not current licensees of our softjvaccounted for $20.3 million, or 20%,
of total 2005 revenue.
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Statement of Income Information
The following shows certain items reflected in &iatement of Income as a percentage of total reu

Year ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Software license reveni 40.(% 43.1% 58.1%
Services revenu 60.C 56.¢ 41.¢€

Total revenue 100.(¢ 100.¢ 100.(¢
Cost of software licens 0.3 04 04
Cost of service 34.¢ 27.1 27.2

Total cost of revenu 34.¢ 27.F 27.€

Gross profil 65.1 72.5 72.4
Research and developmt 19.1 20.€ 21.7
Selling and marketin 33.t 33.2 25.C
General and administrati\ 11.¢ 12.7 10.¢

Total operating expens: 64.t 66.€ 57.€

Income from operation 0.t 6.C 14.¢

Installment receivable interest incoi 24 3.1 5.2

Other interest income, n 3.C 1.¢ 0.8

Other income (expense), r (1.4) 0.t 1.2

Income before provision (benefit) for income ta 455 11.5 22.C

Provision (benefit) for income tax (0.7 3.7 4.2

Net income 4.€% 7.8% 17.&%

International Revenues

International revenue was 35%, 32% and 20% of tmakolidated revenue in 2005, 2004 and 2003, céisply. Our internationg
revenue may fluctuate in the future because sugnie is generally dependent upon a small numbsalet and product acceptances by our
customers during a given period. Historically, mafsbur contracts have been denominated in U.SardolWe expect, however, that in the
future more of our contracts may be denominatedrigign currencies which may expose us to increaseency exchange risk.
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Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year endedcember 31, 2004
Revenue
Our total revenue for 2005 increased 6% to $102l@omfrom $96.5 million in 2004. This increase svarimarily due to a $6.3 million
increase in services revenue. The following tablarsarizes our revenue composition:

(in millions) Year ended
December 31,

2005 2004
License revenu(1)

Perpetual license $ 20.C $22.¢
Term license: 20.€ 18.7
Total license revenu 40.¢ 41.¢
Services revenu

Professional services and traini 40.¢ 39.C
Maintenance 20.4 15.¢
Total services revent 61.2 54.¢
Total revenue $102.C $96.5

(1) License revenue composition amounts reported im#as table in previous periods have been refotathto the current presentation.
total license revenue amount has not changed froon presentation

Total license revenue for 2005 decreased to $4dl@mfrom $41.6 million in 2004. The decreasetatal license revenue was the result
of a $2.9 million decrease in perpetual licensetigly offset by a $2.1 million increase in teriodnses. The increase in term license revenue
primarily reflected one large new term license $ieztion with an existing customer in the third geiaof 2005. The decrease in perpetual
license revenue reflected our strategy of sellimglter initial perpetual licenses to our targetaous, with the potential of larger follow-on
sales. Term license renewals scheduled for 200adestly higher than actual term license renema®®05. While historically a majority of
customers have renewed their term licenses, tl@rde no assurance that this will continue.

Maintenance revenue increased 28% to $20.4 milli2005 from $15.9 million in 2004. The increaserinintenance revenue for 2005
was due to a larger installed base of softwareaahigher proportion of perpetual licenses in trstatled base which yield greater maintenance
revenue than term licenses. The $1.8 million ineeda professional services and training reven@90b reflects an increased demand from
our customers for these services, partially offisethe fact that 2004 benefited from $2.5 millidrrevenue associated with the completion of
two unusually large fixed price contracts. Typigale derive substantial revenue from servicesigetVin connection with the implementat
of software licensed by new customers.

Deferred revenue at December 31, 2005 consistethpty of the fees billed in connection with arrangents for which acceptance of the
software license or completion of fixed price seed had not occurred, and unearned portions ofséhmmaintenance fees paid in advance.
Deferred revenue balances increased to $18.7 m#éisoof December 31, 2005, from $9.1 million aBetember 31, 2004. The $9.6 million
increase was due primarily to new license arrangesifer which acceptance of the software or conmntesf fixed price services had not
occurred and an increased value of unearned pertibannual maintenance fees paid in advance.

International revenue increased to 35% of totaénere for 2005 from 32% for 2004. This increase pranarily related to one large
international license transaction in the third ¢elaof 2005. Our international revenue may fluatuatthe future because such revenue is
generally dependent upon a small number of license
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transactions during a given period. We expectdiatto competition from vendors who will do busmeésforeign currencies, more of our
customer transactions may be denominated in foraigrencies in the future, which may expose usitoeiased currency exchange risk.

Cost of revenue

The cost of maintenance, professional servicedramung increased 35% to $35.3 million from $2illion in 2004. Cost of services
a percentage of services revenue increased to 682005 from 48% for 2004. Such increases wereptinearily to a $5.3 million increase in
compensation costs, a $1.9 million increase inreateéd services and a $0.9 million increase inefrawsts. These increases reflect an
investment in expanding the pool of trained serpieesonnel, including new professional servicesleyges and partners to support an incr
in the number of license implementation projects imnanticipation of increased demand resultingnfieew license signings. Services gross
margin was $25.9 million for 2005 compared to $28iBion for 2004. The decrease in services groasgim reflects the increase in services
costs, partially offset by growth in maintenanceersue and its associated higher margin. Such dezrdao reflects the fact that the first
guarter of 2004 benefited from $2.5 million of raue and gross margin associated with two unusielie fixed price contracts completed
during that period. Services headcount was 15beathd of 2005 compared to 123 at the end of 2004.

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses for 2005 dedrea$£9.5 million from $19.9 million for 2004 dte reduced use of contractors
partially offset by costs associated with increaseghloyee headcount. As a percentage of total tmjeesearch and development expenses
decreased to 19% in 2005 from 21% in 2004, primatliie to increased revenue. Research and developmadcount at the end of 2005 was
96 compared to 90 at the end of 2004.

Selling and marketing expenses for 2005 increa8edo6$34.2 million from $32.1 million for 2004. Bhincrease was due to a $1.1
million increase in sales commissions, an incréasearketing program spending of $0.6 million, andreased wages and benefits expenses o
$0.5 million due to higher headcount. As a peragataf total revenue, selling and marketing expeirsgeased to 34% in 2005 from 33% in
2004, primarily due to increased spending. Selind marketing headcount at the end of 2005 wasafdhared to 108 at the end of 2004.

General and administrative expenses for 2005 deedsim $12.2 million from $12.3 million for 2004s/ percentage of total revenue,
general and administrative expenses decreased4dri2005 from 13% in 2004, primarily due to inged revenue. General and
administrative headcount at the end of 2005 waso®8pared to 85 at the end of 2004. General andrastngtive expenses decreased in 2005
primarily due to reduced legal fees partially offsg costs associated with increased headcount.

Installment receivable interest income

Installment receivable interest income, which cstssof the portion of all term license fees unddtvgare license agreements attribute
to the time value of money, decreased to $2.5anilin 2005 from $3.0 million for 2004. The decreases due primarily to a lower total value
of that portfolio. A portion of the fee from eadrm license arrangement is initially deferred aewbgnized as installment receivable interest
income over the remaining term of the license.gtoposes of the present value calculations, theodi#t rates used are estimates of customers
borrowing rates, typically below prime rate, andéd&aried between 3.25% and 5.8% during the pasyéars.

Other interest income, net

Other interest income increased to $3.0 millio2005 from $1.8 million for 2004. The increase wesparily due to increased cash €
investment balances and improved yields.
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Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net, which consists prignaficurrency exchange gains and losses, was Y$1ildon expense in 200
compared to $0.5 million income in 2004. The unfabde change in other expense, net, resulted pifinfeom the impact of foreign exchange
rate changes on transactions recorded on our €d§et valued in foreign currencies, consisting prilm of cash, investments, license
installments, receivables, accounts payable andialsc In particular, changes in the exchange @ft&ropean currencies have unfavorably
impacted foreign currency denominated assets.

Income before provision for income taxes

Income before provision for income taxes decreasédl.6 million in 2005 from $11.1 million in 200%his decrease was primarily due
to a $2.8 million decrease in services gross maeg$iL.9 million decrease in other income and egpealated to foreign currency transactions,
a $1.6 million increase in operating expenses milgndue to investments in sales and marketing@a®$0.8 million decrease in license revenue,
partially offset by a $1.2 million improvement ither interest income, net.

Provision for income taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes in 2005w$0.1) million compared to $3.6 million in 200¢he effective tax rate was (2%)
2005 compared to 32% in 2004.

During 2005, we engaged outside tax experts t@vecertain significant tax positions previouslyaakby the Company. Certain of these
projects were completed during the third and foaudhrters of 2005. Specifically, during the thitchger of 2005, we completed a study of our
deferred tax liabilities primarily related to tefivense installments, which resulted in an increzfsgur deferred tax liabilities. In addition, in
the fourth quarter of 2005, we completed a studywfextra-territorial income exclusions, whichuksd in a decrease of our reserve for tax
uncertainties related to this item. As a resulhefse projects and other considerations, we redogedaluation allowances by $3.1 million, as
we determined that a change in the estimatesmgléati utilization of credit carry-forwards was nssary. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we
recorded a net income tax benefit of $2.1 milliar grrimarily to changes in estimates upon compiedicthe study of benefits related to extra-
territorial income exclusions, recording of taxurefls and overpayments, and changes in deferratbtag. These fourth quarter 2005 entries
also significantly decreased the effective tax fate2005 compared to the statutory rate. We exfiectemaining tax projects to be completed
during the first half of 2006 and any additionajuestiments resulting from their completion will kecorded at that time.

Our effective income tax rate for 2005 was below statutory federal income tax rate primarily dwe $3.1 million reduction in our
valuation allowances due to a change in estimda¢img to utilization of credit carry-forwards. Oeffective tax rate was further reduced
because we recorded $0.9 million of benefits pritpaelated to tax refunds and overpayments, $Glliiam of benefits related to current peri
extra-territorial income exclusions, a $0.3 milli@duction in reserve for tax uncertainties reldtedxtra-territorial income exclusions, $0.3
million of estimated federal research and expertiaign credit, a $0.2 million benefit from foreiguwtivities, and $0.2 million of net benefit
from state income taxes primarily due to state inedax credits. These factors were partially offseq $3.6 million increase to our deferred
tax liabilities primarily related to term licengestallments, a $0.2 increase in reserve for taeuaities related to tax credits, and $0.1 million
of permanent differences primarily related to naghactible meals and entertainment expenses.

The Company has provided reserves for certain tatxems, both domestic and foreign, which it belgegeuld result in additional tax
being due. Any additional assessment or reductidhese contingent liabilities will be reflectedtime Company’s effective tax rate in the
period that additional facts become known. Therestor tax uncertainties totaled approximatelyn§ilion as of December 31, 2005 and
2004.

Judgment is required in determining our worldwideome tax expense provision. In the ordinary coafs®mnducting a global business
enterprise, there are many transactions and célmgaundertaken whose ultimate tax outcome cabeatertain. Some of these uncertainties
arise as a consequence of transactions and arrengemade among related parties, transfer pri@ngdnsactions with our subsidiaries, and
potential
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challenges to nexus and tax credit estimates. \fifea®e our exposure to unfavorable outcomes rel@tédese uncertainties and estimate the
probability for such outcomes. Although we beliewe estimates are reasonable, no assurance caveetigat the final tax outcome of these
matters will not be different from what is refledtie our historical income tax provisions, retuamsl accruals. Such differences, or changes in
estimates relating to potential differences, cdwdde a material impact, unfavorable or favorabtepor income tax provision and operating
results in the period in which such a determinaisomade. The reserve for tax uncertainties totafgatoximately $2 million as of December
31, 2005 and 2004.

Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year endedcember 31, 2003
Revenue

Our total revenue for 2004 decreased 3% to $96llmfrom $99.3 million in 2003. This decrease whge to a decline in license
revenue, partially offset by an increase in sewievenue. The following table summarizes our reeezomposition for those two years:

(in millions) Year ended
December 31,

2004 2003

License revenu«(1)

Perpetual license $22.¢ $26.2
Term license: 18.7 31.5
Total license revenu 41.¢ 57.1

Services revenu

Professional services and traini 39.C 30.1
Maintenance 15.¢ 11.F
Total services revent 54.¢ 41.¢
Total revenue $96.5 $99.:

(1) License revenue composition amounts reported imias table in previous periods have been refotaethto the current presentation. -
total license revenue amount has not changed froon presentation

Total license revenue for 2004 decreased to $4ill®mfrom $57.7 million for 2003. This decreagetotal license revenue was the re
of a $12.8 million decrease in term license reveand an anticipated $10.6 million decline in pénpélicense revenue from First Data
Resources (FDR), partially offset by a $7.3 millianrease in other perpetual license revenue. 87 1®e originally entered into a term
software license and support agreement with FD&tgrg to FDR the right to use our software and pewducts and the exclusive right to
market, distribute, and sublicense our softwarersawd products to FDR customers and prospects iorddit card market. The agreement was
restructured in the first quarter of 2002, to cheatite existing term license to a perpetual licangigout exclusive rights in the credit card
market. Under the terms of the restructured FDRement, we recognized $10.6 million of perpetwanse revenue in 2003. We recognized
no further license revenue from FDR in 2004.

The $12.8 million decrease in term license revan&904 reflected a lower value of scheduled retewa2004 versus 2003, as well a
reduction in term license add-ons and extensionadtition, fewer customers renewed term licenseslvance of their scheduled renewal date
during 2004 as compared to 2003.

Services revenue for 2004 increased 32% to $54I@mirom $41.6 million for 2003. This increase svdue primarily to an increase in
new license implementations in 2004, and highetactner maintenance revenue. Professional serviabsraiming revenue in 2004 increased
30% to $39.0 million from $30.1 million for 2003hiE increase was due primarily to implementatiasjguts associated with new customer
signings and more
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projects reaching completion in 2004. Maintenamsenue in 2004 increased 38% to $15.9 million f&ih.5 million in 2003. The increase in
maintenance revenue was due to a larger instailed bf software and improved pricing for maintemasupport.

Deferred revenue at December 31, 2004 consistethpty of billed fees from arrangements for whigteptance of the software license
or completion of fixed price services had not yatuwred, and unearned portions of annual maintenfees paid in advance. Deferred revenue
balances decreased to $9.1 million as of Decembe2@®4 from $14.2 million as of December 31, 20008 decrease was due primarily to a
decrease in the unearned portion of services revegiated to new software implementations and sedse in deferred license revenue,
partially offset by an increase in the value ofanmed portions of annual maintenance fees paidvarace.

Cost of revenue

Cost of services consists primarily of the cogpiividing maintenance, professional services aaiditrg. Our cost of services for 2004
decreased 3% to $26.1 million from $27.1 millior2B03, primarily due to the redeployment of somewfservices staff to pre-sales support
activities. Cost of services as a percentage @ices revenue decreased to 48% for 2004 from 63%3d03. The percentage decrease was
primarily due to the increase in our services rereeand the redeployment of some of our servicéktstpre-sales support activities. Services
gross margin was $28.8 million for 2004 comparefid.5 million for 2003. The increase in servicessg margin reflects recognition of
deferred margin on completed services engagemadtsrgroved effectiveness of our professional smwistaff, achieved in part through the
increased use of third party contractors when rescggo meet higher demand.

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses for 2004 dedr@¥st $19.9 million from $21.6 million for 2008s a percentage of our total
revenue, research and development expenses dettedsEn in 2004 from 22% in 2003. The decreaspending was primarily due to
reduced research and development staff and stafédeexpenses as well as reduced spending onuscésbresearch and development
contractors. Research and development headcotirg ahd of 2004 was 90 compared to 101 at the ERAGS3.

Selling and marketing expenses for 2004 increaSétl  $32.1 million from $24.8 million for 2003. iBhincrease was due to an incre
in our sales personnel, and an increase in satamigsions associated with increased new licenskibgs, partially offset by a $1.5 million
decrease in marketing program spending. Marketingram spending decreased because we deemphasizelddased market awareness and
advertising spending in favor of increased spendimgales hiring and sales activities. Many ofatiditional sales personnel were hired late in
2003. As a percentage of total revenue, sellingrarketing expenses increased to 33% in 2004 fre¥h id 2003, due to the combined effect
of increased spending and lower total revenue 0%28elling and marketing headcount at the end6#2vas 108 compared to 102 at the end
of 2003.

General and administrative expenses for 2004 iseta4% to $12.3 million from $10.8 million for Z00As a percentage of our total
revenue, general and administrative expenses isete®@ 13% for 2004 from 11% for 2003. These iregsavere primarily due to increased
spending in 2004 on audit and compliance activaigsociated with the requirements of the Sarbamésy@ct of 2002 and related regulations
as well as increased staff costs. General and ésinaitive headcount was 85 at the end of 2004 coeapt® 91 at the end of 2003.

Installment receivable interest income

Installment receivable interest income, which cstssof the portion of all term license fees unddtvgare license agreements attribute
to the time value of money, decreased in 2004 t0 &8llion from $5.2 million for 2003. The decreasas due primarily to a lower average
discount rate for our portfolio of term softwaredises and a lower total value of that portfolio.
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Other interest income, net

Other interest income, net, increased to ‘million for 2004 from $0.8 million for 2003. Thedrease was due to increased cash
investment balances and improved yields.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net, which consists prignaficurrency exchange gains and losses, wasr#idlion for 2004 versus $1.
million for 2003. The decrease was due to loweraney exchange gains in 2004 versus 2003, and sgpéncurred in the second quarter of
2004 associated with restructuring our investmentfglio.

Income before provision for income taxes

Income before provision for income taxes decreasé&d 1.1 million for 2004 from $21.8 million in 280This decrease was due to a
$16.1 million decrease in license revenue, a $illdmincrease in operating expenses primarily tuevestments in sales and marketing, a
$1.8 million decrease in other income and expepastially offset by $14.2 million improvement inrgi&e gross margin.

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes in 2004 was $3.8iomlcompared to $4.2 million in 2003. The effeetitax rate was 32% in 20!
compared to 19% for 2003. This increase in effectate was due to lower benefits from the recogmitif loss and credit carry forwards in
2004 compared to 2003, partially offset by improestimates in 2004 of tax benefits related to expales. Provisions have been made for
uncertainties, with reserves totaling approximagymillion as of December 31, 2004.

Liquidity and capital resources

We have funded our operations primarily from cdstvffrom operations. At December 31, 2005, we hashcand equivalents and short-
term investments of $114.7 million, a $17.4 millimcrease from $97.4 million at December 31, 2004s increase was primarily due to $25.3
million of cash flow from operations partially offsby $5.9 million used to repurchase outstandivagess of our common stock and $2.2 mil
used to purchase fixed assets.

Working capital was $130.9 million at December 3005, a $12.0 million increase from $118.9 millamrDecember 31, 2004. Working
capital increased primarily due to the $17.4 millincrease in cash and investments and a $10.i@miticrease in accounts receivable,
partially offset by a $9.6 million increase in deéx revenue and a $4.8 million decrease in skont-ticense installments. The $9.6 million
increase in deferred revenue was primarily assetiafth new license signings for which acceptarfdb® software or completion of fixed
price services had not occurred, and an increaale@ wf unearned portions of annual maintenancegdea in advance. The $4.8 million
decrease in short-term license installments wasarily due to prepayments by customers of $2.9aonill

Cash flow from operating activities for 2005 incsed to $25.3 million from $7.6 million for 2004,9gte a $2.8 million decline in net
income, from $7.6 million for 2004 to $4.7 millidar 2005. During 2005, net cash provided benefiteth a $9.6 million increase in deferred
revenue and a $17.8 million reduction in short Ebmgj-term license installments, partially offsetd$10.0 million increase in accounts
receivable. The increase in deferred revenue wasapty associated with new license signings folichhacceptance of the software or
completion of fixed price services had not yet ooed, and an increased value of unearned portibasraial maintenance fees paid in adva
Short and long-term license installments decreasiedarily because license fees billed during 200&eded the term license revenue that we
recognized during that period, with $4.5 milliontbé decrease due to billings for customers whaelio pay their term license commitments
in advance. Of the $10.0 million increase in ac¢swaceivable, approximately $7.8 million was daislbwer payments by some large
customers and $2.2 million was due to increasdithdd.
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Net cash used in investing activities for 2005 y&0.2) million, primarily due to net purchaseswdrketable debt securities. This
compared with ($58.3) million used in investingigties in 2004, which was also primarily due td perchases of marketable debt securities.
Purchases of fixed assets increased to $2.2 mili@®05 from $1.1 million in 2004.

Net cash used in financing activities for 2005 \{#&& 1) million compared with net cash provided mahcing activities of $3.5 million
for 2004. The use of cash in 2005 was primarilyther repurchase of $5.9 million of our common stpaktially offset by proceeds of stock
option exercises. The net cash provided in 2004psiazarily from the proceeds of stock option exsesi.

At the end of 2004, our Board of Directors authedizhe repurchase of up to $10 million of our @rtding common stock. The purche
are being made from time to time on the open mavket privately negotiated transactions. Underghegram, shares may be purchased in
such amounts as market conditions warrant, sutjaetgulatory and other considerations. During 20@5repurchased 957,112 shares for
million under the program in open market purcha$és. authorization to repurchase shares was otigiseheduled to expire on September
2005, but was extended to June 30, 2006 by ourdBBafaDirectors. The repurchase program may be swgukor discontinued at any time
without prior notice. Our repurchase activity wadallows:

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as Pai

Total Number Approximate Dollar

of Publicly Value Of Shares That
of Shares Average Price Announced Share May Yet Be Purchase:
Purchased (1 Paid per Repurchase R:pnu(:§;1;-:: F?rr(])z]fam

Period Share Program (in thousands)
March 200t 163,00( $ 5.71 163,00( $ 9,06¢
April 2005 — $ — — $ 9,06¢
May 2005 148,43¢ $ 5.67 148,43¢ $ 8,22¢
June 200¢ 97,68: $ 5.94 97,68: $ 7,64
July 2005 — $ = = $ 7,64
August 200¢ 213,24t $ 6.2¢ 213,24¢ $ 6,30¢
September 200 180,94: $ 6.0¢€ 180,94 $ 5,20¢
October 200¢ — $ — — $ 5,20¢
November 200! 98,90( $ 6.9 98,90( $ 4,52¢
December 200 54,90( $ 7.3C 54,90( $ 4,12:

Total 957,11: $ 6.14 957,11:

(1) All shares were purchased pursuant to the ShararBlegse Progran

We believe that current cash, cash equivalentscasi flow from operations will be sufficient tanfiliour business for at least the next
twelve months. Material risks to cash flow from m@ns include delayed or reduced cash paymeotsgeanying sales of new licenses or a
decline in our services business. There can bessurance that changes in our plans or other eaffietsting our operations will not result in
materially accelerated or unexpected expenditumegddition, there can be no assurance that additicapital if needed will be available on
reasonable terms, if at all, at such time as waireq

As of December 31, 2005, we did not have matedairoitments for capital or operating expenditurdgeothan a purchase commitment
for customer support services and capital and ¢ipgrieases. The purchase commitment for custoogect services covers quality assure
and engineering support for legacy software. Ourcggal administrative, sales, marketing, suppant] research and development operations
are located in an 85,228 square foot leased faailiCambridge, Massachusetts. The lease for #itiditly expires in 2013, with the option to
extend for two additional five-year periods. Weodksase space for our other offices in the UnitedeS, Canada, Australia, France, and the
United Kingdom. These leases expire at varioussdar®ugh 2010.
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Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadstraight-line basis, to account for scheduéed increases. The excess of expense over
current payments is recorded as deferred rentrashdded in other long-term liabilities. As of Dedeen 31, 2005, our known contractual
obligations were as follows:

Payment due by period (in thousands)

2011 anc
2007 & 2009 &
Contractual obligations: Total 2006 2008 2010 after
Purchase commitmen $ 1,62 $ 81C $ 81C $ — $ —
Capital lease obligatior 172 10¢ 64 — —
Operating lease obligatiol 26,17 3,33t 6,86¢ 7,062 8,911
Total $27,967 $4,25¢ $7,74C $7,062 $8,911

Subsequent to year-end, the Company entered jptociase commitment with a partner for contractedgssional services at a cost of
$0.7 million per year for the next three yearsddotal commitment of $2.1 million.

Our liquidity is affected by the manner in which walect cash for certain types of license trarieast Historically, our term licenses
have provided for monthly license payments, geheoaler five years. The value of future license payts is included on our balance sheet as
short and long-term license installments. In soases, we are beginning to recognize revenue uondez sf our term licenses over the term of
the agreement as payments become due, or ratadtytlm/term of the license when payments are nraddvance. The value of future license
payments under these ratable term licenses iswokided on our balance sheet.

The following amounts of cash are due for receigtannection with our existing term license agrestsie

License
installments for License
installments for
term licenses

recorded on the ratable term
licenses not on

Years ending December 31, balance sheet balance sheet

(in thousands)

2006 $ 26,537 $ 1,27:
2007 17,98: 1,12¢
2008 9,211 1,00¢
2009 2,457 51
2010 2,08t 42
2011 and thereafte 3,64: —
Total $ 61,91 $ 3,50(

License installments on the balance sheet repréisemresent value of term license fees which meeet been billed, and have already
been recognized as revenue. License installmemse@mber 31, 2005 decreased $17.8 million fromebrxer 31, 2004, primarily because
license fees billed during 2005 exceeded term $ieaevenue recognized, with $4.5 million of therdase due to prepayments of term license
fees. The decrease reflects the lower average nérgdife of our term licenses. The renewal valfi@ar term licenses has declined by
approximately 11% since December 31, 2004. Thengnoif term license renewals can impact the liceirsstallments balance. License
installments would increase during periods whemtiicense revenue exceeds billings. Term licensbsduled for renewal in 2006 are
modestly higher than actual term license renewa®0D5. Generally, in prior periods, we have reimephthe present value of committed fut
term license payments upon customer acceptanbe aeginning of the license term. In some casesredeginning to recognize revenue
under some of our term licenses over the termefatjireement as payments become due, or ratablyte/grm of the license when payments
are made in advance. With respect to a particalan ticense transaction, this would result in lésnse revenue in the initial period and more
license revenue during the remainder of the licéas®a, but would not change the expected cash While historically a majority of
customers have renewed their term licenses, tlarde no assurance that this will continue.
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Critical accounting policies and estimates

Managemer's discussion and analysis of the financial conditiod results of operations is based upon the tidaged financia
statements, which have been prepared in accordeitftaccounting principles generally accepted i thnited States. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estinatdgudgments that affect the reported amountsssta, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
and related disclosure of contingent assets ahdities. We base our estimates and judgments stotical experience, knowledge of current
conditions and beliefs of what could occur in thufe given available information. We consider fiiowing accounting policies to be both
those most important to the portrayal of our finahcondition and those that require the most sutbje judgment. If actual results differ
significantly from management’s estimates and mtipes, there could be a material effect on ouariirial statements.

Revenue recognition

Our revenue is derived from two primary sourceftware license fees and service fees. Softwarengvés recognized in accordar
with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Softwarev&aie Recognition”, as amended. Our license arraages, whether involving a perpetual
license or a term license, generally contain migdtgdements. In addition to the license, these etemgenerally include professional consulting
services, training and maintenance services. Weotlbave vendor specific objective evidence of ¥alue for the license and, therefore,
recognize revenue based on the residual value mhethprescribed in Statement of Position 98-9 “Modiion of SOP 972, Software Revent
Recognition, with Respect to Certain Transactiolgg. typically determine fair value for the non-lise elements as the price for such
elements when sold separately. Revenue from amaegts in which the fair value of one or more undeked elements is unknown is deferred
until the fair value of those elements is known #relresidual value of the license can be deterhine

Perpetual license fees are generally payable dintteethe software is delivered, and are generaltpgnized as revenue when the
software is delivered, any acceptance requiredolyract is obtained, and no significant obligationgontingencies exist related to the
software, other than maintenance support, provédleather revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are generally payablke monthly basis under license agreements thatrglgnbave a fiveyear term and me
be renewed for additional years at the custosngption. We have a history of successfully coifgcpayments under such term software lici
arrangements, and therefore, the present valugturif license payments is generally recognize@wasnue upon customer acceptance, pro
that no significant obligations or contingenciegserelated to the software, other than maintenauggort, provided all other revenue
recognition criteria are met. A portion of the hee fees payable under each term license agre€ewratl to the difference between the total
license payments and the discounted present valhese payments) is initially deferred and recagdias installment receivable interest
income (and is not part of total revenue) overlitense term. Many of our license agreements pefad license fee increases based on
inflation. When such an increase occurs, as detethby the terms of the license agreement, we récedghe present value of such increases
as revenue; the remainder of the increase is répagjas installment receivable interest income ¢iveremaining license term. For purpose
the present value calculations, the discount naged are estimates of customers’ borrowing ratdseaime of recognition, typically below
prime rate, and have varied between 3.25% and $08%e past few years. As a result, revenue tleategognize relative to new license
arrangements of this type would be impacted by geain market interest rates.

Our standard license terms provide that the soétsaaccepted upon delivery. Some of our licenssngements, however, provide that
the acceptance does not occur until later, basexdisiomer specific criteria. In the future we exgedncreasingly enter into term licenses with
contract provisions that require the term liceresenue to be recognized over the term of the agreeas payments become due, or ratably
over the term of the license when payments are rimdévance.

Our services revenue is comprised of fees for sofvimplementation, consulting, maintenance ariditrg services. Implementation and
consulting services generally do not involve pradgaew software or
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customizing or modifying the licensed software, tather involve helping customers create rule $etsenable those customers to deploy the
software to their specific business processes.sOftware implementation and consulting agreemepisally require us to provide services on
a time and material basis or a fixed fee. Revefmretime and material projects are recognized agces are delivered and fees are billed. As
the services provided are not essential to thetifmmality of the software and are described inaljeeement such that the total price of the
arrangement would be expected to vary as the rekthe inclusion or exclusion of the services,ageount separately for the services element
of the arrangement and allocate revenue accordanglyng the elements based on the fair value. Quvdhue for the rate per service hour is
established as the actual rate charged per hotinferand materials services that have been splarately. The fair value of services is
determined by multiplying the fair value rate peuhby the services hours incurred, or committed.

We do not have vendor specific objective eviderfabe fair values of fixed-price services projelseause we do not have a reliable
track record for accurately estimating the time essburces needed to complete such projects. Reventixed-price services projects is
recognized as the services are provided basedthpdmours incurred at amounts equal to direct dostgred, up to the amounts billed to date,
resulting in no gross profit recognized until coptjn of the project. Generally, when the fixedeprservices project is complete, the
remaining revenue and gross profit associated thétixed-price services project is recognized.

Software license customers are offered the optianter into a maintenance contract, which usualjyires the customer to pay a
monthly maintenance fee over the term of the maantee agreement, typically renewable annually. &depaintenance fees are deferred and
are recognized evenly over the term of the maimeaagreement. We generally recognize trainingieesnue as the services are provided.

We have very limited revenue through resellersietoge we typically have not provided price prokeetor stock rotation rights. We
have, in a small number of instances, providedtéichrights of return or cancellation. We recordatnces for estimates of potential credit
memos and sales returns when the related revemeedsded, and review them periodically. Thesavestiés are based on historical analyses of
credit memo and sales return data, current econtrands, and experience with customer disputesiefleeant products and the customer
industry products. These estimated amounts arerddfer reserved until the related elements oftjreement are completed and provided to
the customer or the dispute is resolved.

We warrant that our software products will confammdocumented specifications. We have not expeggisgynificant claims related to
software warranties beyond the scope of maintensmgport which we are already obligated to provatel consequently we have not
established reserves for warranty obligations.

Our agreements with customers generally requite usdemnify the customer against claims that afitvgare infringes third party pate
copyright, trademark or other proprietary rightacls indemnification obligations are generally lietitin a variety of industrgtandard respec
including our right to replace an infringing produss of December 31, 2005, we had not experieecgdmaterial losses related to these
indemnification obligations and no claims with respthereto were outstanding. We do not expecifgignt claims related to these
indemnification obligations, and consequently, vagénot established any related reserves.

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue consists primarily of billed féesn arrangements for which acceptance of the softicense or completion of fixe
price services has not occurred, the unearnedopoofi services revenue and advance payment of eminte fees. When the value of
committed and undelivered services to be deliveftgt license implementation is known, we defet #raount until the related elements of
agreement are completed and provided to the custdrhe timing of revenue recognized under our ayeaments with customers is impacte«
these deferrals, but the total value of revenuegeized during the arrangements is not.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance forazlit memos

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts gigistimates that we make based on factors we leddippropriate such as t
composition of the accounts receivable aging, histbbad debts, changes in payment patterns, mestoreditworthiness and current econc
trends. If we used different assumptions, or iffthancial condition of customers were to deterieraesulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional provisions for doukdficounts would be required and would increasedadud expense.

We record allowances for estimates of potentiaditiemos and sales returns when the related reviemecorded and review them
periodically. We base these estimates on histoaigalyses of credit memo and sales return dategrdueconomic trends, and our experience
with customer disputes, the relevant products arstioener industry. These estimated amounts arerddfer reserved until the related eleme
of the agreement are completed and provided touk®mer or the dispute is resolved. If we usefididiht assumptions in calculating the
allowance, adjustments would be reflected as chatigeevenue. During the first quarter of 2005,refined our estimate of allowances for
credit memos which resulted in an increase in sesvievenue of $0.3 million.

Stock-based compensation

We periodically grant stock options for a fixed riagn of shares to employees, -employee directors and contractors with an exel
price greater than or equal to the fair market @alfithe shares at the date of the grant. Histityjose have accounted for stock option grants
to employees and directors using the intrinsic @ahethod. Under the intrinsic value method, comagms associated with stock awards to
employees and directors is determined as the diffa, if any, between the current fair value ofthderlying common stock on the date
compensation is measured and the price the emptoygieector must pay to exercise the award. Thasuement date for employee and
director awards is generally the date of grantclstiptions granted to contractors are accounteddimy the fair value method. Under the fair
value method, compensation associated with stoekdsixto contractors is determined based on theat&d fair value of the award itself,
measured using either current market data or ablkesdted option pricing model.

At December 31, 2005, we had four stock-based cosgi®n plans, which are described in Note 4 ohibtes to the consolidated
financial statements. No stock-based employee cosgtion expense was recorded in 2005, 2004 or 2308l] options granted under those
plans had an exercise price greater than or equhgtfair market value of the underlying commackton the date of grant and were granted
only to employees and directors.

However, we have disclosed in the notes to ouraareted financial statements the pro forma eftecbur statement of income if we t
employed the fair value method of accounting focktoption grants. For purposes of that disclosweehave used the Black-Scholes multiple
pricing model to value the options granted which Feqjuired us to make certain assumptions inclutiagaverage life of options, the volatility
of our stock price and the risk-free rate of ret@nr assumption regarding the average life ofapiions and the volatility of our stock was
based on an analysis of our historical stock optiercises and stock price as reported by NASDA€) aperiod approximating the assumed
average life of our options and ending on the taedetermination is being made. Our assumptioartigg the risk-free rate of return is based
on U.S. Treasury note yields.

The effects on pro-forma net income and earningsipare of the estimated fair value of stock opgtiand estimated dilutive shares are
not necessarily representative of the effects erréults of operations in the future. In addititre, estimates made utilize a pricing model
developed for traded options with relatively sHiwgs; our option grants typically have a life ¢f to ten years and are not transferable.
Therefore, the actual fair value of a stock opgoant may be different from our estimates. We lvelighat our estimates incorporate all rele’
information and represent a reasonable approximaticight of the difficulties involved in valuingon-traded stock options.
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In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&aard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Agcating Standards No. 123R,
Share-Based PaymefiSFAS 123R”). This Statement is a revision of SFN& 123,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatiand
supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion2&pAccounting for Stock Issued to Employg@$B 25"), and its related implementation
guidance. SFAS 123R focuses primarily on accourfingransactions in which an entity obtains emplgervices in share-based payment
transactions. The Statement requires entitiesdogrEze stock compensation expense for awardsuwfyeigstruments to employees based on
the grant date fair value of those awards (withitBohexceptions). SFAS 123R is effective with retpge us for reporting periods commencing
on or after January 1, 2006.

On April 6, 2005, in response to the issuance &SE23R, the Compensation Committee of our Boardicéctors approved
accelerating the vesting of out-of-the-money, utegstock options held by certain current employersluding “officers” as defined under
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l@Bvested options having an exercise price grelade $7.00 per share, representing the
right to purchase a total of approximately 1.6 imillshares, became exercisable as a result oftteng acceleration. All other terms and
conditions in the original grants remain unchangétk acceleration of vesting did not result in theognition of compensation expense for the
year ended December 31, 2005 as the exercisewasén excess of the fair market value on the dateodification resulting in no intrinsi
value under APB25. The notes to our 2005 consa@daifihancial statements disclose approximately #$dom of pro-forma compensation
expense in 2005 resulting from the vesting accttara

The decision to accelerate vesting of these optimsmade primarily to reduce compensation expraevould otherwise be
recognized after the adoption of SFAS 123R. Weretg that the maximum future compensation expdratentould otherwise have been
recorded, based on adopting SFAS 123R on Janu&g08, was approximately $4 million.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provissmiiSFAS 123R using the modified prospective apgino SFAS 123R requires that a
company recognize stock compensation expense fardsvwof equity instruments to employees ratably tive service period. In addition,
SFAS 123R requires that excess tax benefits retatstbck compensation expense be reported asaciimg cash inflow rather than as a
reduction of taxes paid in cash flow from operagiohhe impact of the adoption of SFAS 123R is estéd to result in an after-tax
compensation expense for unvested stock optiorssamding at December 31, 2005 of approximately $0lbon in 2006. The total after-tax
compensation expense, including the cost of optibatsare expected to be granted during 2006,peerd to be up to $1 million. However,
uncertainties, including the number of stock optijpants, stock price volatility, estimated forfegs and employee stock option exercise
behavior, make it difficult to determine whethee ttock-based compensation expense that we wilt indfuture periods will be similar to this
estimate.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Judgment is required in determining our worldwidedme tax expense provision. In the ordinary coafsmnducting a global busine
enterprise, there are many transactions and célmgaundertaken whose ultimate tax outcome cabeatertain. Some of these uncertainties
arise as a consequence of transactions and arrangemade among related parties, transfer pricingrdnsactions with our subsidiaries, and
potential challenges to nexus and tax credit esémadVe estimate our exposure to unfavorable owtsaelated to these uncertainties and
estimate the probability for such outcomes. Althouwge believe our estimates are reasonable, noassican be given that the final tax
outcome of these matters will not be different framat is reflected in our historical income tax\yisions, returns and accruals. Such
differences, or changes in estimates relating tergil differences, could have a material impanfavorable or favorable, on our income tax
provision and operating results in the period inchtsuch a determination is made. Provisions haes lmade for such uncertainties, with
reserves totaling approximately $2 million as otBmber 31, 2005.

We account for income taxes in accordance witheBtant of Financial Accounting Standards No. J8&;ounting for Income Taxes
(“SFAS 109"), which requires that deferred tax assets and ligsilbe recognized
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using enacted tax rates for the effect of tempodifgrences between the book and tax bases ofdedassets and liabilities. Principal
differences between our book and tax accountsedaéed to the treatment of our license transactidfes use the operating lease method of
recognizing license revenue for tax purposes, abtththe extent we continue to enter into terrarige contracts, we establish deferred tax
liabilities for such future taxable income. In dileti, because we defer recognition of this inconte future periods for tax purposes, as of
December 31, 2005, we had generated approxima28yrllion in U.S. tax loss carry forwards whichripaly offset the related liabilities. We
also earn tax credits in various jurisdictionsdar ongoing investment in research and developmettities. As of December 31, 2005, we
had accumulated approximately $8 million of credasried forward because they would generally lezed after net operating losses have
been consumed exposing us to uncertainties regaodinability to realize these credits.

Our remaining valuation allowance relates to taxdfiés from stock option exercises which will inase equity, loss carry forwards
acquired in the 1mind acquisition, the recognitidrvhich will generally reduce goodwill, and credihat will expire un-utilized.

If we are late in filing income taxes for foreignbsidiaries, the taxing authorities in those judsdns may levy punitive or “jeopardy”
assessments which can grow over time. The amoilled during these periods may be much higher thhat is ultimately owed. During the
delinquent period, the differences between estichigtees and actual taxes ultimately owed may résw@thigher income tax provision. Upon
filing of the foreign income tax returns and claifos refund of overpayment, the taxing jurisdictiprovides a notice of overpayment, if any,
which is then recorded as a reduction to our prorifor income taxes.

Contingencies

From time to time, we are threatened with or becpargy to litigation. We periodically assess eaddttar to determine if a contingent
liability in accordance with Statement of Finandalcounting Standards No. Bccounting for ContingencigsSFAS 5”), should be recorded.
In making this determination, we may, dependingh@nnature of the matter, consult with internal ertérnal legal counsel and technical
experts. Based on the information we obtain, coeabivith our judgment regarding all the facts amdwistances of each matter, we
determine whether it is probable that a contindesg may be incurred and whether the amount of kasshcan be estimated. Should a loss be
probable and estimable, we record a contingentitoascordance with SFAS 5. In determining the amb@di a contingent loss, we consider
advice received from experts in the specific matterrent status of legal proceedings, settlemegbtiations that may be ongoing, prior case
history and other factors. Should the judgmentsestitnates made by us be incorrect, we may neexttwd additional contingent losses that
could materially adversely impact our results ofi@gpions.

Inflation

Inflation has not had a significant impact on operating results to date, and we do not expeotliaive a significant impact in the futu
Our unbilled license and maintenance fees areajlpisubject to annual increases based on recogjiidiation indices.
Significant customers

No customer accounted for 10% or more of our t@aénue in 2005 or 2004. First Data Resources ateddor 12% of our total reven
in 2003. In 2003, another customer accounted fpragpmately 15% of our total revenue.
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ITEM7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKE T RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mdgafus due to adverse changes in financial mamke¢s and rates. Our market r
exposure is primarily fluctuations in foreign exoba rates and interest rates. We have not entetedérivative or hedging transactions to
manage risk in connection with such fluctuations.

Foreign currency exposure

We derived approximately 35% of our total revernru€005 from sales to customers based outside dflited States. Some of our
international sales are denominated in foreignengies, such as the British pound and Euro. Thee pni United States dollars of products and
services sold outside the United States in foreigmencies will vary as the value of the Unitedt&alollar fluctuates against those foreign
currencies. There can be no assurance that salesnifeated in foreign currencies will not be matenahe future and that there will not be
increases in the value of the United States dali@inst such currencies that will reduce the doéturn to us on the sale of our products and
services in such foreign currencies. The foreigmency exposure related to revenue is largely bfigehe expenses we incur in foreign
currencies.

Because most of our transactions with customergaoéced from our offices in the U.S., and soméhafse transactions are denoming
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, we haeeivables and license installments that are valuether currencies. In addition, our U.S.
operating company holds some cash and investmeotgiiencies other than the U.S. dollar in ordesupport operations in other countries.
When there are changes in the exchange ratesdee thther currencies versus the U.S. dollar funatiourrency we recognize a currency gain
or (loss) in the statement of income as other ire¢@xpense) related to foreign currency transastidfe had net assets valued in foreign
currencies, consisting primarily of cash, investtaglicense installments, and receivables, paytiliset by accounts payable and accruals,
with a carrying value of $20 million as of DecemBédr 2005. A ten percent change in currency exabaags would change by approximately
$2 million the carrying value of those net assstgeported on our balance sheet as of Decemb@0B5, with most of that change recognized
in the statement of income as other income (expense

Interest rate exposure

Our balance sheet contains interest bearing astéth have fixed rates of interest. These assetade license installments receivable
generated in the normal course of business thrtnagisactions with customers and investments ofsxcash in marketable debt securities.

License installments receivable bear interestatate in effect when the license revenue was rézed, which does not vary throughout
the life of the contractual cash flow stream. Whelve that at current market interest rates, tirevialue of license installments receivable
approximates the carrying value as reported orbalance sheets. However, there can be no assutatdée fair market value will
approximate the carrying value in the future. Fexcguch as increasing interest rates can redudaitiraarket value of the license installments
receivable. Changes in market rates do not affeicearnings, as the license installments receivatelearried at cost and, since they are not
financial instruments and are held until maturétse not marked to market to reflect changes irfalieszalue of the portfolio. The carrying val
of $58 million as of December 31, 2005 reflectsuleghted average of historic discount rates useddord each term license arrangement.
The average rate changes with market rates asioensé installments receivable are added to thtfotior which mitigates exposure to market
interest rate risk. A 200 basis point increase @mket interest rates would have decreased thedhie of our license installments receivable by
approximately $2 million as of December 31, 2005

We have invested in fixed rate marketable debtritézsi A 200 basis point increase in market irgerates would have reduced the fair
value of our marketable debt securities by appraxaty $2 million as of December 31, 2005. Changesarket rates and the related impac
fair value of the investments do not generally etffeet earnings as our investments are fixed etargties and are classified as available-for-
sale. Investments classified as available-for-aedecarried at fair value with unrealized gains sdes recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting, as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Seasitixchange Act. Under the supervision and wittprécipation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Rircial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of tfieativeness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the frameworkriternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”). As a resultho$ evaluation, our management concluded thatraernal control over financial
reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2005

Our internal control over financial reporting indks policies and procedures that pertain to thater@énce of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactiansl dispositions of assets, provide reasonableasses that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statein accordance with U.S. generally acceptedwuating principles, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made in accordance wittoaa#iions of our management and directors; andigeoreasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asifjons, use or disposition of our assets thatdcbave a material effect on our financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to the risks that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

Effective internal controls are necessary for ugrtwvide reliable financial reports. If we cannobyide reliable financial reports, our
business and operating results could be harmechade in the past discovered, and may in the fuliseover, areas of our internal controls
that need improvement.

As of December 31, 2005, management identifieddeficiencies in the Company'’s internal control ofreancial reporting that each
constitute a material weakness. The first is a nete&eakness in the Company’s ability to apply gretly accepted accounting principles as
they relate to the recognition of revenue on tratisas that contain complex and non-standard teimihie fourth quarter of 2005, we
incorrectly recorded approximately $1 million of’emue in our initial consolidated trial balance @¥hresulted in an audit adjustment. The
revenue was associated with two non-standard saftigense transactions with respect to which tistamers had the option to purchase
additional license rights during a specified pemddime in the future at a significant discounte\Mtimately determined that the revenue
related to the significant discounts offered to¢hstomers on the options should be deferred thaibptions were exercised or expire in 2006.

The second deficiency was the fact that our cositgkr the accounting for income taxes did not ageeffectively. This was related to
our ability to make accurate estimates impactingtax provision. In connection with its evaluatiohour internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, management ededlthat there was a significant deficiency agisnom insufficient technical review and
supervision of tax decisions, including variousreates. Management determined, based upon cedpistments to our tax provision that w
required in the fourth quarter of 2005 that wegngicant but not material, that this deficiencydhzot been effectively remediated as of
December 31, 2005. Due to these adjustments, tieafel for further misstatements and the fact thatsignificant deficiency was not
remediated after one year management deemed th®lcdeficiency to be a material weakness.

Because of the material weaknesses described atmavegement has concluded that we did not maietéaetive internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, basedriteria ininternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the COSO.

Our management’s assessment of the effectivenesg dfiternal control over financial reporting dD®cember 31, 2005 has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independegistered public accounting firm, as stated in theport (which expressed an unqualified
opinion on management’s assessment and an ady@rseroon the effectiveness of our internal contreér financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005) which appears on page 38 oAtimsial Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pgsfasns Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, incloded accompanyiniflanagement Report on Internal Control Over Finahcia
Reporting, that Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiaries (the “@ogip did not maintain effective internal controley financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, because of the effect of thenahtveaknesses identified in management’s assrgdmased on criteria established in
Internal Control— Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidnibe Treadway Commission. The Company’
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and ftsr assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on managemesssessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifanternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahchéng the design and operating effectivenessatefnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary girtuenstances. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supemnvidi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pars performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakoaaturance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(tt) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of tree&sof the company; (2) provide reasonable asseriat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statetsin accordance with generally accepted acaogiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amedtirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiosg, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlantial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcohover financial reporting, including the positl of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatetected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

A material weakness is a significant deficiencycombination of significant deficiencies, that résin more than a remote likelihood
that a material misstatement of the annual orimténancial statements will not be prevented diedted. The following material weaknesses
have been identified and included in managemessessment: (1) the Company’s controls over theletity for software revenue
recognition did not operate effectively. Specifigathe Companys ability to apply generally accepted accountiriggiples as they relate to t
recognition of revenue on transactions that contamplex and non-standard terms resulted in thedpgr recording of a total of
approximately $1 million of revenue in the fourthagter of 2005 that resulted in an audit adjustragdt (2) the Company’s controls over the
accounting for income taxes did not operate effetyi In connection with the Company’s evaluatidrit® internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, a significafitsicy was identified arising from insufficiergdhnical review and supervision of tax
decisions, including various estimates. At Decen®igr2005, based upon certain adjustments
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to the tax provision that occurred in the fourttader of 2005 that were significant but not mateitavas apparent that a significant deficiency
still existed in this area. Due to these adjustmethe potential for further misstatements anddleethat the significant deficiency was not
remediated after one year, management deemed ttmlcdeficiency to be a material weakness. Theaterial weaknesses were considered in
determining the nature, timing, and extent of atelits applied in our audit of the consolidatedfiicial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2005, of the Company and this repms cot affect our report on such financial statase

In our opinion, management’s assessment that tingp@oy did not maintain effective internal contrgeofinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all mategapects, based on the criteria establishédtérnal Control — Integrated Framewoissued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission. Also in our opinion, becaafsthe effect of the material
weaknesses described above on the achievemerd objéctives of the control criteria, the Compaag hot maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 3105, based on the criteria establishebhiarnal Control — Integrated Framewoissued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements as of and foy#e ended December 31, 2005, of the Company anceport dated March 3, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion on those finarst@tements.

/s/ DELOITTE & T OUCHELLP

Boston, Massachuse!
March 3, 200¢
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pgsfasns Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiariesQtmepany”)as of December 3
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statsmé&income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensicome, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3B. Zthese financial statements are the respongibilithe Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesaritial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamliqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aHasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateteg@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinarficial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results opisations and its cash flows for each of the tiyeses in the period ended December 31,
2005, in conformity with accounting principles geslly accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdirgancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, Hamethe criteria establishedlimernal
Control — Integrated Framewoliksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report dated
March 3, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion anagement’s assessment of the effectiveness @fdhgany’s internal control over
financial reporting and an adverse opinion on tiiecéveness of the Company'’s internal control ofieancial reporting because of material
weaknesses.

/s/ DELOITTE & T OUcCHELLP

Boston, Massachuse!
March 3, 200¢
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share-related data)

December 31

2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 21,31« $ 20,90t
Shor-term investment 93,42 76,45¢
Total cash and sh«term investment 114,73t 97,36(
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance fobtfalaccounts of $365 in 2005 and 2( 25,48¢ 15,52¢
Shor-term license installmen 26,531 31,35¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,95: 1,23¢
Total current asse 168,71: 145,48:
Long-term license installments, net of unearned inténestme 31,37 44,34«
Equipment and improvements, net of accumulatededégtion and amortizatic 2,79z 1,58¢
Acquired technology, net of accumulated amortiza 29 37¢
Other asset 114 11¢€
Goodwill 2,34¢ 2,34¢
Total asset $205,36! $194,25!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accrued payroll related expens $ 8,197 $ 7,88¢
Accounts payable and accrued expet 10,76¢ 9,50z
Deferred revenu 18,74¢ 9,114
Current portion of capital lease obligati 10z 98
Total current liabilities 37,81¢ 26,60z
Long-term deferred income tax 51C 1,48(
Capital lease obligation, net of current port 63 165
Other lon¢-term liabilities 1,171 80¢
Total liabilities 39,56: 29,05t
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 1,000,000 shari®eazed; no shares issued and outstan — —
Common stock, $.01 par value, 70,000,000 sharémered; 35,565,918 shares and 36,076,649 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 andl 2&&pectivel 35€ 361
Additional paic-in capital 118,96¢ 122,15:
Stock warrant: 107 24¢
Retained earning 46,00 41,28¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Ic
Net unrealized loss on investments avail-for-sale (623 (267)
Foreign currency translation adjustme 98¢ 1,41¢
Total stockholder equity 165,80 165,20(
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $205,36! $194,25!

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue
Software licensi
Services

Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Cost of software licens
Cost of service
Total cost of revenu
Gross profil
Operating expense
Research and developmt

Selling and marketin
General and administrati\

Total operating expens:

Income from operation

Installment receivable interest incoi

Other interest income, n
Other income (expense), r

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Income before provision (benefit) for income ta

Provision (benefit) for income tax

Net income

Earnings per share, ba:
Earnings per share, dilut

Weighted average number of common shares outsignoiisic
Weighted average number of common shares outsigyndiinted

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 3:

2005 2004 2003
$ 40,79’ $41,56:  $57,69:
61,21¢ 54,89 41,61¢
102,00 96,46 99,31
35¢ 35C 35C
35,28¢ 26,14¢ 27,06¢
35,63¢ 26,49¢ 27,41
66,36¢ 69,96 71,89
19,51 19,87¢ 21,59:
34,17¢ 32,08t 24,84(
12,17( 12,25: 10,78¢
65,85 64,22 57,22(
511 5,74¢ 14,67
2,471 3,02¢ 5,16:
3,01( 1,84z 75¢
(1,380) 517 1,23¢
4,617 11,12¢ 21,83
(10€) 3,57t 4,15

$ 4,71¢ $ 755  $17,68:
$ 012 $ 021 $ 051
$ 0.2 $ 020 $ 0.4¢
35,77¢ 35,60 34,51
36,46: 37,04 35,75
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Balance at January 1, 20

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of stock under Employ
Stock Purchase Pl¢

Tax benefit from exercise of sto
options

Cancellation of stock held in escrow
for acquisition

Foreign currency translatic
adjustment:

Net unrealized loss on investme
availablefor-sale

Net income

Balance at December 31, 20

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of stock under Employee
Stock Purchase Pl:

Exercise of common stock warrai

Issuance of common stock warra

Tax benefit from exercise of sto
options

Foreign currency translation
adjustment:

Net unrealized loss on investme
availablefor-sale

Net deferred tax impact of unrealiz
loss on investments available-for-
sale

Net income

Balance at December 31, 20

Repurchase of common sta

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of stock under Employee
Stock Purchase Pl:

Exercise of common stock warral

Tax benefit from exercise of stock
options

Foreign currency translatic
adjustment:

Net unrealized loss on investme
available-for-sale

Net deferred tax impact of unrealiz
loss on investments available-for-
sale

Net income

Balance at December 31, 20C

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulated Total
Amount Additional Other Stock-
Number Paid-In Stock Retained Comprehensive holders’ Comprehensive
of Shares Capital Warrant Earnings Income (Loss) Equity Income
34,297 $ 34 $113,48t $ 374 $16,05¢ $ 66€  $130,92°
97¢€ 10 2,41z — — — 2,42:
10z 1 531 — — — 532
— — 1,85¢ — — — 1,85¢
(15€) ) (89<) — — — (901)
— — — — — 661 661 $ 661
— — — — — ) 9) C)
— — — — 17,68: — 17,68: 17,68!
35,213 352 117,39: 374 33,73t 1,32( 153,17. $ 18,33
72& 7 2,88¢ — — — 2,89(
103 1 65¢€ — — — 65¢
33 1 162 (162) = = =
— — — 38 — — 38
— — 1,05¢ — — — 1,05¢
— — — — — 87 87 $ 87
- - o - o (433) (432) (433)
— — — — — 17t 17t 17%
— — — — 7,55¢ — 7,55¢ 7,55¢
36,07 361 122,15: 24¢ 41,28¢ 1,14¢ 165,200 $ 7,38:
(957) 9) (5,867 - = = (5,877
34z 3 1,47 — — — 1,48(
76 1 36¢ — — — 36¢
28 0 142 (142) — — —
— — 69€ — — — 69€
_ — — — — (430) 430 $ (430)
— — — — — (58€) (58€) (58€)
— — — — — 23C 23C 23C
_ _ — — 4,71¢ — 4,71¢ 4,71¢
35,66¢ $ 35€ $118,96¢ $ 107 $46,000 $ 363 $165,80: $ 3,93:

See notes to consolidated financial statema
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income

Adjustment to reconcile net income to cash flovesrfroperating activities

Stock option income tax benef

Deferred income taxe

Issuance of common stock warra

Depreciation and amortizatic

Reduction in provision for doubtful accoul

Losses on disposal of equipmi

Change in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivable and license installnr
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term assets and liabilitie

Cash flows from operating activiti

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of investmer
Maturing and called investmer
Sale of investment
Purchase of equipment and improveme¢

Cash flows from investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activitie
Payments under capital lease obliga
Exercise of stock optior
Proceeds from sale of stock under Employee Stockhase Plal
Repurchase of common sta

Cash flows from financing activitie
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equis

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents, end of \

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest
Income taxe:
Non-cash financing activity
Equipment acquired under capital le
Return of shares held in escrow related to busicesinatior

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 3:

2005 2004 2003

$ 4,71¢ $ 7,55¢ $ 17,68:

69€ 1,05¢ 1,85¢
(660) 1,36¢ 625
1,72t 1,417 1,49¢
— — (14€)
17 — —

7,81¢ 651 (4,87))
(74C) (501) 142
1,72€ 25¢ 3,312
9,63t (5,066) 90=
362 77€ (34)
25,29¢ 7,551 20,96¢

(44,42)) (163,77) (46,229

12,00( 16,85( 32,32
14,47t 89,75: —
(2,236) (1,109) (382)

(20,18%) (58,287) (14,289)

(98) (39) —
1,48( 2,89( 2,42;
36¢ 65¢ 532

(5,877) — —
(4,126) 3,51( 2,95¢
(572) 13¢ 957
40¢ (47,08:) 10,59¢
20,90¢ 67,98¢ 57,39:

$ 21,31« $ 20,90t $ 67,98¢

$ 81 $ 14 $ 10z
$ 507 $ 1,22 $ 1,027
$ — $ 30z $ —

$ — $ — $ 901



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Business

We develop, market, license and support softwameanage complex, changing business processes. Wiel@implementatior
consulting, training, and technical support servitefacilitate the use of our software.

(b) Management estimates and reporting

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of Ameri
requires management to make estimates and assasihiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finanstialements and the reported amounts of revenukesxgenses during the periods presented.
Actual results could differ from those estimatdgn8icant assets and liabilities with reported amts based on estimates include trade and
installment accounts receivable, long term licans&liments, deferred income taxes and deferreeihnee.

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlo®ants of Pegasystems Inc. and its wholly ownédigiaries, Pegasystems Limitec
United Kingdom company), Pegasystems Company (adian company), Pegasystems Worldwide Inc. (a dr8tates corporation),
Pegasystems Pty Ltd. (an Australian company), BsteEss Investment Inc. (a United States corporptiod Pegasystems Private Ltd (a
Singapore company). All inter-company accountstaasactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(d) Foreign currency translation

The translation of assets and liabilities of ouefgn subsidiaries is made at period-end exchaags rwhile revenue and expense
accounts are translated at the average excharggedating the period transactions occurred. Thdtieg translation adjustments are reflected
in accumulated other comprehensive income. Realineldunrealized exchange gains or losses fromactings and adjustments are reflected
in other income (expense), net, in the accompangamgolidated statements of income.

(e) Revenue recognition

Software revenue is recognized in accordance wateSient of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software ReveRaeognition”, as amended. We
generally have multiple element arrangements inetudoftware licenses, professional services, reaemce and training. We do not have
vendor specific objective evidence of fair valuetfoe software license and, therefore, allocateath@ngement fee to each of the elements |
on the residual method in accordance with StatewieRosition 98-9 “Modification of SOP 97-2, SoftieaRevenue Recognition, with Respect
to Certain Transactions”. We determine fair valoethe non-license elements as the price for sieshents when sold separately. Revenue
from arrangements in which the fair value of onenare undelivered elements is unknown is deferred the fair value of those elements is
known and the residual value of the license caddtermined.

Perpetual license fees are recognized as revenee thib software is delivered provided all otheeerae recognition criteria are met.
Term software license fees are generally payable monthly basis under license agreements thatgignbave a five-year term and may be
renewed for additional years at the customeption. The present value of future term licepagments is generally recognized as revenue
customer acceptance, provided that no significahigations or contingencies exist related to thiéwsare, other than maintenance support,
provided all other revenue recognition criteria giet. In certain circumstances, such as when leésess are not fixed or determinable, reve
from such licenses is recognized over the ternh@fdgreement as payments become due, or ratabiyheverm of the license when payments
are made in advance. Our standard license term&prthat the software is accepted upon delivery.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

Services revenue is comprised of fees for softwamementation, consulting, maintenance and trgisi@rvices. Implementation and
consulting services do not generally involve pradgmew software or customizing or modifying theelised software, but rather involve
helping customers deploy the software to their giodousiness processes. As the services providedat essential to the functionality of the
software and are described in the agreement sathhth total price of the arrangement would be etqukto vary as the result of the inclusion
or exclusion of the services, we account separételthe services element of the arrangement. Revéor time and material projects is
recognized as services are provided. Revenuexed{price services projects is recognized as thecgs are provided based upon the hours
incurred at amounts equal to direct costs incumpdp the amounts billed to date, resulting irgnass profit recognized at that point.
Generally, when the fixed-price services projecdmplete, the remaining revenue and gross prefiveiated with the fixed-price services
project is recognized. Maintenance revenues aigrezed ratably over the related contract perieshegally twelve months. Training revenue
is recognized as the services are provided.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investts

December 31, 2005

(in thousands)

Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Cash and cash equivaler
Cash $ 8,49¢ $ — $ — $ 8,49¢
Commercial pape 10,97¢ — (©)] 10,97¢
Money market mutual func 1,84 — — 1,84
Cash and cash equivalel 21,317 — (©)] 21,31
Shor-term investments
Government sponsored enterpri 75,31t — (882) 74,43:
Corporate bond 16,127 — (121) 16,00¢
Municipal bonds 3,00¢ — (22 2,982
Shor-term investment 94,44¢ — (1,025 93,42:
Cash and cash equivalents and sterm investment $115,76: $ — $ (1,029) $114,73!
December 31, 200-
(in thousands)
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Cash and cash equivaler
Cash $ 10,76« $ — $ — $ 10,76«
Certificates of depos 8,39 — — 8,391
Money market mutual func 1,74« — — 1,74«
Cash and cash equivalel 20,90¢ — — 20,90¢
Shor-term investments
Government sponsored enterpri 49,23 — (31¢) 48,91t
Corporate bond 12,75¢ — (109) 12,64¢
Municipal bonds 3,007 — (16) 2,991
Auction rate securitie 11,90( — — 11,90(
Shor-term investment 76,89¢ — (443) 76,45"
Cash and cash equivalents and s-term investment $ 97,80: $ — $ (449 $ 97,36(
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

We consider debt securities with maturities of ¢hmeonths or less, when purchased, to be cash éeplisaAuction rate securities have
been classified as short-term investments. Purshase sales of securities are recorded on a tratdebasis. Interest is recorded when earned.
All of our investments are classified as availalolesale and are carried at fair value with unmesadigains and losses recorded as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income. We mhéterthe appropriate classification of our invesitsen debt securities at the time of
purchase and re-evaluate such determination atledahce sheet date. There have been no reclasisifis between available-for-sale and
held-tomaturity investment categories. Our investmengowernment sponsored enterprises include debtifesussued by the Federal Ho
Loan Bank System, the Federal National Mortgagegission (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan M@gg@orporation (Freddie Mac), ¢
the Federal Farm Credit Banks. Investments in govent sponsored enterprises are not backed bylirfaith and credit of the U.S.
Government. As of December 31, 2005, remaining ritegsl of marketable debt securities ranged fronuday 2006 to July 2008. As of
December 31, 2004, remaining maturities of marketdbbt securities ranged from January 2005 to B#)7. Proceeds from sales of
available-for-sale auction rate securities durifg@®2were $14.5 million, with no gross realized gain losses. Proceeds from available-for-sale
securities that matured or were called during 208k $12 million with a gross realized loss of $i8usand and no gross realized gains.
Specific identification of the individual securgiavas used to determine the basis on which theaydoss was calculated.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS 115-1F&f1124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment dsd
Application to Certain Investmer” (“FSP 115-1"), which provides guidance on deterimg when investments in certain debt and equity
securities are considered impaired, whether thpairment is other-than-temporary, and on measwirdy impairment loss. FSP 115-1 also
includes accounting considerations subsequengtoaitognition of an other-than-temporary impairmeamd requires certain disclosures about
unrealized losses that have not been recognizethasthan-temporary impairments. FSP 115-1 isireduo be applied to reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2005. We have appiffe 115-1 as of December 31, 2005.

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesand fair value of our investments, with unrealitosses that are not deemed to be
other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by stwent category and length of time that individsedurities have been in a continuous
unrealized loss position at December 31, 2005.

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

(in thousands)
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Fair Fair
Description of Securities Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Commercial pape $10,97¢ $ (3) — — $ 10,97¢ $ (3)
Government sponsored enterpri 32,61« (389 $41,81¢ $ (499 74,43: (882)
Corporate bond 5,642 (39 10,36¢ (82 16,00¢ (121
Municipal bonds 2,982 (22 — — 2,982 (22
Totals $52,21¢ $ (459  $52,18 $ (575  $104,39 $ (1,029

The unrealized losses on our investments in comaigraper, government sponsored enterprises, cagbonds and municipal bonds
were caused by interest rate increases. Becaubaweethe ability and intent to hold those investtaemtil a recovery of fair value, which may
be maturity, we do not consider those investmentsetother-than-temporarily impaired at December2805.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

(g) Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectaia toncentration of credit risk consist of s-term cash investments, trade accol
receivable and license installments receivable r&¢erd long-term license installments in accordamitie our revenue recognition policy,
which results in long-term installment receivaldlesn customers (due in periods exceeding one year the reporting date, primarily from
large organizations with strong credit ratings). gvant credit to customers who are located througtiee world. We perform credit
evaluations of customers and generally do not retquatlateral from customers. Future installmenis dnder term licenses as of December 31,
2005 are as follows:

License installment:

Years ending December 31

(in thousands)

2006 $ 26,537
2007 17,98
2008 9,211
2009 2,457
2010 2,08t
2011 and thereafte 3,64:
61,91

Deferred license interest incor (4,00¢6)
Total license installments receivable, $ 57,90¢

(h) Equipment and improvements, net of accumulatepreciation and amortization

Equipment and improvements are recorded at cogirdg@tion and amortization are computed usingsttagh-line method over th
estimated useful lives of the assets, which aretlyears for equipment, including software, and figars for furniture and fixtures. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser ofith@t the lease or the useful life of the assetp&rs and maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

(i) Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairmenémgver events or changes in circumstances indicatehe carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Impairment is giynaessessed by comparison of undiscounted caslsféxpected to be generated by an asset
to its carrying value, with the exception that gaddimpairment is assessed by use of a fair vahaglel. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measby the amount by which the carrying amount efdbset exceeds its fair value. There
were no impairments in 2005, 2004, and 2003.

() Research and development and software costs

Research and development costs, other than ced#imare related costs, are expensed as incuraggtalization of computer softwa
developed for resale is accounted for in accordaniteFASB Statement No. 88\ccounting for the Costs of Computer Software t&Blel,
Leased, or Otherwise MarketeAccordingly, capitalization of software costs begipon the establishment of technical feasibitignerally
demonstrated by a working model or an operativeiwarof the computer software product. Such cost® mot been material to date and, as a
result, no internal costs were capitalized durif§= 2004, and 2003. Amortization of capitalizettvgare is included in the cost of software
license. No amortization expense for internallyeleged capitalized software costs was chargeddbafesoftware license during 2005, 2004,
and 2003.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

(k) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed based aveibbted average number of common shares outsiguadiring the period. Dilute
earnings per share includes, to the extent inatusfesuch shares would be dilutive to earningsspbare, the effect of outstanding options and

warrants, computed using the treasury stock method.
(in thousands, except per share date

Basic
Net income

Weighted average common shares outstan

Earnings per share, ba:

Diluted
Net income

Weighted average common shares outstan
Effect of assumed exercise of stock options andamé

Weighted average common shares outstanding, asgditition

Earnings per share, dilut
Outstanding options excluded as impact would bi-dilutive

(I) Segment reporting

We currently operate in one operating segmenties based business process management, or BitiWasm We derive substantially
of our operating revenue from the sale and supgfayhe group of similar products and services. &miglly all of our assets are located
within the United States. We derived our operatengenue from the following geographic areas (salgside the United States are principally

through export from the United States) for the gearded December 31, 2005:

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
$ 4,71¢ $ 7,55¢ $17,68:
35,774 35,691 34,51¢
$ 0.1 $ 0.21 $ 0.51
$ 4,71¢ $ 7,55¢ $17,68:
35,77¢ 35,691 34,51¢
68¢ 1,352 1,23¢
36,46: 37,04 35,751
5,723 1,69¢ 4,14¢

2005 2004 2003

($ in thousands)
United State: $ 66,55t 65%  $65,74 68% $79,12¢ 80%
United Kingdom 18,71 18% 11,93( 12%  12,04! 12%
Europe, othe 11,172 11% 13,24¢ 14% 6,64( 7%
Other 5,561 6% 5,54( 6% 1,50¢ 1%
$102,000 10(% $96,46. 10(% $99,31: 10(%

In 2005 and 2004, no customer accounted for mane 19% of our total revenue. In 2003, two custoraecounted for approximately
15% and 12% of our total revenue, respectivelyDatember 31, 2005, one customer accounted for rippately 19% of outstanding trade

receivables and one other customer representecb18%g and short-term license installments. At &mber 31, 2004, two customers

represented 19% and 13% of outstanding trade atsoeeceivable, respectively. At December 31, 2@@ke customers represented 17%, 14%

and 13% of short and long term license installmemetspectively.

(m) Stock options

We periodically grant stock options for a fixed riven of shares of common stock to employees, direetod no-employee contractol

with an exercise price greater than or equal tddalvenarket value of the shares at
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

the date of the grant. We account for stock opgiants to employees and directors using the intrivedue method. Under the intrinsic value
method, compensation associated with stock optivards to employees and directors is determinetiaditference, if any, between the
current fair value of the underlying common stodktiee date compensation is measured and the peoeniployee or director must pay to
exercise the award. The measurement date for emplayards is generally the date of grant. Stoclkiwards granted to non-employee
contractors are accounted for using the fair vate¢hod. Under the fair value method, compensatisocated with stock option awards to
non-employee contractors is determined based oestimated fair value of the award itself, measwsidg either current market data or an
established option pricing model.

At December 31, 2005, we had four stock-based eygplcompensation plans, which are described mdyeifiNote 4. No stock-based
employee compensation expense was recorded in 2008,or 2003, as all options granted under thtmesphad an exercise price equal to or
greater than the market value of the underlyingroom stock on the date of grant and were grantegltorémployees and directors. The
following table illustrates the effect on net incem@nd earnings per share if we had applied thevéire method to stock-based employee
compensation:

Years ended December 3:

(in thousands, except per share amount:

2005 2004 2003
Net income, as reporte $4,71¢ $ 7,554 $17,68!:
less: Total stoc-based employee compensation expense determined fairdealue
based method for all awards, net of related tasces (8,06%) (3,19¢) (6,807)
Pro forma net incom $(3,347) $ 4,35¢ $10,87¢
Earnings per shar
Basic—as reportet $ 0.1c $ 0.21 $ 0.51
Basic—pro forma $ (0.09 $ 0.12 $ 0.32
Dilutedc—as reportet $ 0.1c $ 0.2C $ 0.4¢
Diluted—pro forma $ (0.09) $ 0.1z $ 0.3C

The fair value of options at the date of grant estimated using the Black-Scholes multiple optidgnipg model with the following
weighted-average assumptions:

2005 2004 2003
Volatility 70% 68% 71%
Expected option life, years from vesti 2.5 2.1 1.C
Interest rate (risk free 4.27% 3.52% 2.5€%
Dividends None None None

For the portion of pro-forma compensation expenselased above relating to the Stock Purchase FHanyeighted average fair values
of the options feature implicit in our Stock Pursb@lan offerings in 2005, 2004, and 2003 werel$%2.15 and $1.82, respectively.

The effects on 2005, 2004, and 2003 pro-formameime and earnings per share of the estimateddhie of stock options and
estimated dilutive shares are not necessarily septative of the effects on the results of openatia the future. In addition, the estimates n
utilize a pricing model developed for traded opsiavith relatively short lives; our option grantpigally have a life of up to ten years and are
not transferable.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

Therefore, the actual fair value of a stock optijoant may be different from our estimates. We lvelithat our estimates incorporate all rele!
information and represent a reasonable approximaticight of the difficulties involved in valuingon-traded stock options.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&aiard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Agating Standards No. 123R,
Share-Based PaymefiSFAS 123R"). This Statement is a revision of SFA&. 123 ,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatang
supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion28pAccounting for Stock Issued to Employees] its related implementation guidance.
SFAS 123R focuses primarily on accounting for teentions in which an entity obtains employee sesvioeshare-based payment transactions.
The Statement requires entities to recognize stoakpensation expense for awards of equity instrasnenemployees based on the grant date
fair value of those awards (with limited exceptiprighe company is required to adopt SFAS 123R ondy 1, 2006.

On April 6, 2005, in response to the issuance &SE23R, the Compensation Committee of our Boardicgctors approved
accelerating the vesting of out-of-the-money, utegstock options held by certain current employersluding “officers” as defined under
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act ofAl@vested options having an exercise price grelade $7.00 per share, representing the
right to purchase a total of approximately 1.6 imillshares, became exercisable as a result oftteng acceleration. All other terms and
conditions in the original grants remain unchangétk acceleration of vesting did not result in theognition of compensation expense for the
year ended December 31, 2005 as the exercisewasén excess of the fair market value on the dateodification resulting in no intrinsi
value under APB25. The pro-forma results reported®005 in this footnote to the financial statensentlude approximately $4 million of pro-
forma compensation expense resulting from the ngstcceleration. The decision to accelerate vestirtigese options was made primarily to
reduce compensation expense that would otherwisedognized after the adoption of SFAS 123R.

On December 8, 2005, the Compensation CommitteeoBoard of Directors approved a stock option gtarcertain eligible employes
All eligible employees received fully vested optionith an exercise price 20% greater than the gboicke on the date of grant. The stock
option grant did not result in recognition of compation expense for the year ended December 35, &0€he exercise price was in excess of
the fair market value on the date of grant resglimno intrinsic value under APB 25. The 2005 foona results reported in footnote 1(m) to
the financial statements include approximately $8ilion of pro-forma compensation expense reldtethis stock option grant. The decision
to grant stock options that were immediately vested with an exercise price 20% greater than ihekgtrice on the date of grant was made
primarily to reduce compensation expense that wotlidrwise be recognized after the adoption of SEAER. We estimate that the future
maximum compensation expense that would have lememded related to this stock option grant baseadmpting SFAS 123R on January 1,
2006, was approximately $4 million.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provssmiiSFAS 123R using the modified prospective apgino SFAS 123R requires that a
company recognize stock compensation expense fardsvwof equity instruments to employees ratably tive service period. In addition,
SFAS 123R requires that excess tax benefits retatstbck compensation expense be reported asaciimg cash inflow rather than as a
reduction of taxes paid in cash flow from operatiohhe impact of the adoption of SFAS 123R is eattitl to result in an after tax
compensation expense for unvested stock optiorssamding at December 31, 2005 of approximately $0llkon in 2006.
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(n) Fair value of financial instruments

The principal financial instruments held consistah equivalents, investments, accounts receiataleccounts payable, capital le
obligations, and license installment receivablésirag from license transactions. The carrying valaécash equivalents, investments, accounts
receivable and accounts payable approximate tagivélue due to the relatively short-term naturéhe accounts. Using current market rates,
the fair value of license installment receivablppraximates carrying value at December 31, 200528l

(o) Acquired technology and goodwill

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and prilhciggoresent technology acquired in business coatimns or from third parties.
Amortization is provided on a straight-line basi®othe assets’ estimated useful lives. As of Ddmmm31, 2005 and 2004, intangible assets
consisted of $1.4 million of technology acquiredhibusiness combination with a net carrying vafu®29 thousand and $0.4 million and
accumulated amortization of $1.4 million and $1i0iom, respectively. Amortization expense for tlaisquired technology was $0.4 million,
$0.4 million, and $0.4 million for the years end2elcember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectivelyeXpgect to recognize approximately $29
thousand of amortization expense related to thesets in 2006.

Goodwill represents the residual purchase pricd maa business combination after all identifiededs have been recorded. Goodwill is
not amortized, but is tested annually for impairttincomparing estimated fair value to its carryiadue. During the first quarter of 2003, we
made a claim against 155,760 common shares invedoom the acquisition of 1mind Corporation (1minth April 2003, the shares were
returned, retired and cancelled. This resulted$0.8 million reduction of goodwill and additioraaid in capital.

(p) Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are provided for differences inlthgses of our assets and liabilities for book argtaposes and loss carry forwards b
on tax rates expected to be in effect when thesesitreverse, and credit carry forwards. Valuatimwances are provided to the extent it is
more likely than not that some portion of the defdrtax assets will not be realized, or will bergeal to asset or equity accounts when real

(g) Other recent pronouncement

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154ctounting Changes and Error Correctich€SFAS 154”), which replaces APB
Opinion No. 20 “Accounting Changesand SFAS No. 3, ‘Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statemert&\n Amendment of APB
Opinion No. 28" SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accountingfat reporting of accounting changes and error ctorss. It establishes
retrospective application, or the latest practieatdte, as the required method for reporting agdamaccounting principle and the reporting of
a correction of an error. SFAS 154 is effectivedocounting changes and corrections of errors rimafigcal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. We have adopted SFAS 154 aafdy 1, 2006 and do not expect it to have a liahierpact on our consolidated rest
of operations and financial condition.
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2. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

We maintain allowances for bad debts based onrfastech as the composition of accounts receivaid&rical bad debt experience, ¢
current economic trends. These estimates are adjpstriodically to reflect changes in facts andwinstances. Our allowance for doubtful
accounts was $0.4 million at December 31, 2005420@ 2003. The following reflects the activitytbé allowance for doubtful accounts for
each of three years ended December 31, 2005:

2005 2004 2003
($ in thousands)

Balance at beginning of ye $36E $36E $ 507
Provision for doubtful accoun — — (142
Write-offs — — —
Balance at end of peric $36E $36E $ 365

We record allowances for estimates of potentiaditremos and sales returns when the related revismecorded. We base these
estimates on historical analyses of credit mema,dairrent economic trends, and our experience austiomer disputes, products, customer
industry and other known factors. These estimatedusmts are deferred or reserved until the relaemients of the agreements are completed
and provided to the customer or the dispute islvedo Our allowance for credit memos was $0.5 omillat December 2005, $0.6 million at
December 31, 2004 and $0.8 million at Decembe8@3. The following reflects the activity of théaavance for credit memos for each of
three years ended December 31, 2005:

2005 2004 2003
($ in thousands)

Balance at beginning of ye $ 642 $ 81F $ 13
Revenue deferred (recognize 37¢ 224 1,64¢
Credit memos issue (550) (397) (847)
Balance at end of peric $ 47C $ 64z $ 81t

3. EQUIPMENT AND IMPROVEMENTS
The cost and accumulated depreciation of equipr@rethimprovements consisted of the following at Deloer 31,:

2005 2004

(in thousands)

Computer equipment and softw: $ 6,24 $ 4,992
Furniture and fixture 2,004 2,24(C
Leasehold improvemen 2,05: 1,99(
Equipment under capital leas 594 594
Capital in progres 317 —
11,21: 9,81¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (8,420 (8,230
Equipment and improvements, net of accumulatededégion and amortizatic $ 2,79: $ 1,58¢

Depreciation expense was approximately $1.0 mill&h8 million, and $1.1 million for the years edd@ecember 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively.
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During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2002608, we recorded disposals of approximately $0lifom $7.4 million and $0.7
million, respectively, of computer equipment, faumé and fixtures, leasehold improvements, andiased software. Nearly all of the assets
written off during 2005, 2004, and 2003 were fudipreciated, resulting in immaterial losses onalisp

During 2005, the Company capitalized certain cttding $0.3 million associated with computer safte developed for internal use.
The capitalization and amortization of these castsin accordance with AICPA Statement of Posi{®@P) 98-1; Accounting for the Costs
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Intelsse”. This software was not completed or placed in serai& of December 31, 2005
and is included in Capital in Progress. Accordingly amortization was taken during 2005. Afterdb&ware is placed in service, it will be
amortized over 3 years in accordance with the Caryisalepreciation and amortization policy.

4. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(a) Preferred stocl

We have authorized 1,000,000 shares of prefermak stvhich may be issued from time to time in onenore series. Our stockholde
have given our Board of Directors the authoritysgue the shares of preferred stock in one or reenies, to establish the number of shares to
be included in each series and to fix the designapowers, preferences and rights of the shareadf series and the qualifications, limitati
or restrictions thereof, without any further voteagtion by the stockholders. The issuance of predestock could decrease the amount of
earnings and assets available for distributionaldérs of common stock, and may have the effedetdying, deferring or defeating a chang
control of the Company. We have not issued anyeshai preferred stock through December 31, 2005.

(b) Common stock

We have 70,000,000 authorized shares of commok std®.01 par value, of which 35,565,918 sharegwssued and outstanding at
December 31, 2005.

At the end of 2004, our Board of Directors authedizhe repurchase of up to $10 million of our @rtding common stock. The purche
may be made from time to time on the open markat privately negotiated transactions. Under thedi® Repurchase Program”, shares may
be purchased in such amounts as market conditiansmt, subject to regulatory and other considenati During 2005, we repurchased
957,112 shares for $5.9 million under the ShareuRzase Program, all in open market purchasesShihee Repurchase Program expires on
June 30, 2006.
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The Share Repurchase Program may be suspendestontihued at any time without prior notice. Oysueehase activity under the
Share Repurchase Program through December 31 v289as follows:

Total Number

of Shares
Purchased as Pai Approximate Dollar
Value Of Shares That
of Publicly May Yet Be Purchase:
Average Price Announced Share
Total Number Under The Share
of Shares Paid per Repurchase Repurchase Program
Period Purchased (1 Share Program (in thousands)
March 200t 163,00( $ 5.71 163,00( $ 9,06¢
April 2005 — $ — — $ 9,06¢
May 2005 148,43¢ $ 5.67 148,43¢ $ 8,22¢
June 200¢ 97,68 $ 5.94 97,68: $ 7,64
July 2005 — $ = = $ 7,64
August 200¢ 213,24t $ 6.2¢ 213,24¢ $ 6,30¢
September 200 180,94: $ 6.0€ 180,94 $ 5,20¢
October 200¢ — $ — — $ 5,20¢
November 200! 98,90( $ 6.9 98,90( $ 4,52¢
December 200 54,90( $ 7.3C 54,90( $ 4,12:
Total 957,11: $ 6.14 957,11:

(1) All shares were purchased pursuant to the ShararBlegse Progran

(c) 1994 Long-term incentive plan

In 1994, we adopted a 1994 Long-Term Incentive Rdam “1994 Plan”) to provide employees, directans consultants with
opportunities to purchase stock through incentieelsoptions and non-qualified stock options. ldligidn to options, eligible participants
under the 1994 Plan may be granted stock apprecidthts, restricted stock and lotgrm performance awards. The Compensation Comr
of the Board of Directors (“Compensation Commitlesiministers the 1994 Plan. Generally, the exengig&e of options granted under the
plan was equal to the fair market value of the ugdey common stock on the date of grant. Optiorented under the 1994 Plan generally vest
over four years and expire no later than ten yfrars the date of grant. As of December 31, 2005ipop to purchase an aggregate of
6.5 million shares of common stock were outstandinder the 1994 Plan. We do not intend to issueaalajtional options or make any other
awards under the 1994 Plan in the future.

(d) 1996 Non-employee director stock option plan

In 1996, we adopted a 1996 MEmployee Director Stock Option Plan (1 Director Plar"), which provides for the grant to n-
employee Directors of the Company of options tachase shares of our common stock. Originally, tliedbor Plan provided for the grant to
non-employee Directors on the date he or shelfsstime a Director an option to purchase 30,00@stafrcommon stock at a price equal to
the fair market value thereof on the date of gramth options to vest in equal annual installmewnts five years. In 1999, the Director Plan
amended to provide for (i) the grant to non-empéolérectors on the date he or she first becameecioir an option to purchase 30,000 shares
of common stock at a price per share equal todimerfarket value thereof on the date of grant, saptions to vest in equal annual installments
over three years and (ii) the grant to each nonleyee Director at the time of the regular meetifithe Board of Directors following the
annual shareholders meeting (commencing in 200@)|yavested option to purchase 10,000 shareofroon stock at a price per share equal
to the fair market value thereof on the date ohgrat December 31, 2005, under the Director
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Plan there were outstanding options to purchasggregate of 250,000 shares. The Compensation Gteeraidministers the Director Plan.
No options were granted under the Director Pla20@5 and we do not intend to issue any options th@eDirector Plan in the futur

(e) 1996 employee stock purchase plan

In 1996, we adopted a 1996 Employee Stock Purdblase(the “Stock Purchase Plan”) pursuant to wbighemployees were entitled to
purchase up to an aggregate of 1.0 million sharesramon stock at a price equal to 85% of therfarket value of the common stock on
either the commencement date or completion datefferings under the plan, whichever is less. Dyg@2905, we amended the Stock Purchase
Plan to provide that for each offering period bedgig on May 1, 2005 or later employees are enttibepurchase shares of common stock at a
price equal to 95% of the fair market value ondbmpletion date of the offering period. As of Ded®m31, 2005, there had been thirteen
offerings under the plan and approximately 0.7ionllshares had been issued there under. The Stockdse Plan is tax qualified and as of
December 31, 2005 no compensation expense retatdhtes issued under the plan had been recognizéidancial statement purposes.

(f) 2004 Long-term incentive plan

In 2004, we adopted the 2004 Long-Term IncentianRthe “2004 Plan”) to provide employees, non-ayeé directors and consultants
with opportunities to purchase stock through insenstock options and non-qualified stock optidnsaddition to options, eligible participants
under the 2004 Plan may be granted stock purcligiss and other stock-based awards. As of Deceihe2005, a total of 7 million shares of
common stock had been authorized under the 200% &pgroximately 3.2 million shares were subjeautstanding options and
approximately 3.7 million shares were availablei$suance. Our Board of Directors has made a comenit to provide our non-employee
directors with annual option grants. The Compensafiommittee administers the 2004 Plan. Generthié/exercise price of options granted
under the plan is equal to the fair market valuthefunderlying common stock on the date of gr@ptions granted under the 2004 Plan
generally vest over five years and expire no lttan ten years from the date of grant.

Stock Options Summary

The following table presents the combined actifatythe 1994 Plan, the 2004 Plan and the Direclan For the years ended
December 31,:

2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

(in thousands, except per share amount:

Outstanding options at beginning of y: 9,25t $ 7.7C 8,44( $ 7.6f 7,98 $ 7.7¢
Granted 1,682 8.04 2,22¢ 7.5C 1,89¢ 4.64
Exercisec (342) 4.32 (72¢) 3.9¢ (974) 2.4¢
Cancelec (867) 7.91 (6871) 10.4: (463) 8.62

Outstanding options at end of ye 9,72¢ 7.8t 9,25¢ 7.7C 8,44( 7.6

Exercisable options at end of y 8,79¢ $ 8.1z 5,78( $ 8.4C 5,75¢ $ 8.6¢

Weighted average fair value of options grantedrdythe

year $ 2.9 $ 4.1¢ $ 241
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The following table presents weighted average paite contractual life information about significaption groups outstanding and
exercisable at December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
RAverage Number
emaining . Exercisable .
Number Contractual Weighted : Weighted
Range of Outstanding Average (in thousands Average
Exercise Prices (in thousands Life (years) Exercise Price Exercise Price
$ 2.33— 4.38 2,56¢ 5.71 $ 4.0¢ 2,087 $ 4.0t
4.48— 753 2,79(C 6.65 6.9] 2,332 6.9¢
7.54— 8.67 3,137 6.4¢ 8.1¢ 3,137 8.1¢
8.71— 25.75 1,23¢ 4.04 16.9: 1,23¢ 16.9:
9,72¢ 8,79¢

Warrants Summary

In December 2005, we issued 27,766 shares of aunmmm stock in connection with an exercise of wag#ésued as part of tl
consideration for our acquisition of 1mind Corpaatin 2002. These warrants were exercised by tmmér stockholders of 1mind. The
consideration for these exercises was paid indha bf the surrender of 3,774 shares of our comstock under the warrants as a net exercise,
which shares were valued at a total of $27 thoudaaskd on the average closing price of our comstack over the ten consecutive trading
days ending on the third trading day prior to théetf exercise.

In February 2004, we issued 33,287 shares of aumaan stock in connection with the exercise of watsassued as part of the
consideration for our acquisition of 1mind Corpaatin 2002. These warrants were exercised by filmumer stockholders of 1mind. The
consideration for these exercises was paid indha bf the surrender of 2,967 shares of our comstock under the warrants as a net exercise,
which share were valued at a total of $31 thoushasked on the average closing price of our comrtark ®ver the ten consecutive trading
days ending on the third trading all day priortte tate of exercise.

As of December 31, 2005, there were outstandingams to purchase 42,036 shares of our common stitcla weighted average fair
value of $2.54 per share and a weighted averageisaerice of $6.51 per share.

Shares reserved

As of December 31, 2005, 14,017,233 shares weesved for future issuance for stock options andares, including 6,520,678 shal
for the 1994 Plan, 250,000 shares for the Direletan, 264,519 shares for the Stock Purchase P20 ®00 shares for the 2004 Plan, and
42,036 shares for warrants.

57



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2005, we did not have matedaimitments for capital or operating expenditurggeothan a purchase commitm
for customer support services and capital and tipgreeases. The purchase commitment for custonmg@t services covers quality assure
and engineering support for legacy software. Wedezertain equipment and office space underaameelable capital and operating leases
various extension dates through 2013. As of Decerdbge2005, our known contractual obligations, urihg future minimum rental payments
required under capital and operating leases withhgancelable terms in excess of one year werellasvio

OFt,)LIJiE]CaTtﬁfs Capital Operating
Lease Leases
(in thousands)
For the calendar year
2006 $ 8i1c $ 10¢ $ 3,33t
2007 81C 64 3,40¢
2008 — — 3,461
2009 — — 3,57¢
2010 — — 3,48¢
2011 and thereafte — — 8,911
Net minimum obligation: $ 1,62 $ 172 $26,17:
Less: amount representing inter @)
Present value of minimum lease payme 16€
Less: current portio (103
Capital lease obligation, net of current port $ 63

Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadstaight-line basis to account for scheduled ircreases. The excess of expense
over current payments is recorded as deferredarahincluded in other long-term liabilities. As@&cember 31, 2005, deferred rent of $1.1
million was included in other long-term liabilitiefotal rent expense under operating leases wasxipmtely $3.7 million, $4.2 million, and
$3.9 million, for the years ended December 31, 2@084, and 2003, respectively.

Subsequent to year-end, the Company entered iptochase commitment with a partner for contracésturces at a cost of $0.7 million
per year for the next three years for a total commant of $2.1 million.

We are a party in various contractual disputeigiditon and potential claims arising in the ordineourse of business. We do not believe
that the resolution of these matters will have &emia adverse effect on our financial positiomesults of operations.

6. INCOME TAXES
The components of income before provision (bentditjincome taxes are as follows for the years dridecember 31,:

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Domestic $3,68¢ $10,02¢ $20,98t¢
Foreign 928 1,10 84t
Total $4,612 $11,12¢ $21,83:
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The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes are as follows for the years ended DeceBiher

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal $ (82 $ 46¢ $ 90¢€
State (122 20¢ 33t
Foreign 62 47€ 42F
Total current (142 1,152 1,66¢
Deferred:
Federal 2,39( 2,22¢ 1,67¢
State (2,099 19¢ 80¢
Foreign (262) — —
Total deferrec 36 2,42: 2,48¢
Total provision (benefit $ (10€) $3,57¢ $4,15(
The effective income tax rate differed from theigtiary federal income tax rate due to the following
2005 2004 2003
Statutory federal income tax re 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit andtedits (3.9 1.€ 4.1
Permanent difference 2.3 0.8 0.2
Extraterritorial income exclusic (16.1) (18.9) —
Federal research and experimentation ci (5.5 (1.9 (0.9
Tax effects of foreign activitie 4.7 0.8 0.6
Changes in deferred tax liabiliti 77.7 3.1 1.6
Provision to return adjustmer (19.9) 1.7 0.3
Tax exposure resen (1.6 1.8 2.1
Valuation allowanct (66.7) 11.C (24.9
Other 0.2 0.4 0.4
Effective income tax rat (2.9% 32.1% 19.(%

During 2005, we engaged outside tax experts t@vecertain significant tax positions previouslyaakby the Company. Certain of these
projects were completed during the third and foaudhrters of 2005. Specifically, during the thitdhger of 2005, we completed a study of our
deferred tax liabilities primarily related to tefivense installments, which resulted in an increzfsgur deferred tax liabilities. In addition, in
the fourth quarter of 2005, we completed a studywfextra-territorial income exclusions, whichuksd in a decrease of our reserve for tax
uncertainties related to this item. As a resulthefse projects and other considerations, we redogedaluation allowances by $3.1 million, as
we determined that a change in the estimateslinaiton of credit carry-forwards was necessaryriBgithe fourth quarter of 2005, we
recorded a net income tax benefit of $2.1 milliar grrimarily to changes in estimates upon compiedicthe study of benefits related to extra-
territorial income exclusions, recording of taxuedls and overpayments, and changes in deferratétag. These fourth quarter 2005 entries
also significantly decreased the effective tax fate2005 compared to the statutory rate. We exfiectemaining income tax projects to be
completed during the first half of 2006 and anyitiddal adjustments resulting from their completioii be recorded at that time.

59



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

Our effective income tax rate for 2005 was below statutory federal income tax rate primarily dwe $3.1 million reduction in our
valuation allowances due to a change in estimda¢img to utilization of credit carry-forwards. Oeffective tax rate was further reduced
because we recorded $0.9 million of benefits pritpaelated to tax refunds and overpayments, $Glliiam of benefits related to current peri
extra-territorial income exclusions, a $0.3 milli@duction in reserve for tax uncertainties reldtedxtra-territorial income exclusions, $0.3
million of estimated federal research and expertiat@on credit, a $0.2 million benefit from foreigutivities, and $0.2 million of net benefit
from state income taxes primarily due to state inedax credits. These factors were partially offseq $3.6 million increase to our deferred
tax liabilities primarily related to term licengsestallments, a $0.2 increase in reserve for taxetamties related to tax credits, and $0.1 million
of permanent differences primarily related to nachactible meals and entertainment expenses.

Deferred income taxes at December 31, 2005 and 29@tt the net tax effects of net operating laisd tax credit carry forwards and
temporary differences between the carrying amoofhéssets and liabilities for financial statememtgoses and the amounts used for tax
purposes. The components of our net deferred setafliabilities) are as follows as of December 31

2005 2004

(in thousands

Software revenu $ (22,909 $(26,055)
Depreciatior 87¢ 79t
Accruals and reserv 2,464 3,39¢
Unrealized loss on investmer 40¢€ 17&
Net operating losses carried forwi 11,25¢ 17,10%
Tax credits 8,02t 7,04¢
Net deferred tax asse 12€ 2,46¢€
Less valuation allowanct 1,04¢ 4,281
Net deferred income tax $ (922) $ (1,81%)

Reported as
Current deferred tax liability, included in accosipiyable and accru

expense: $ (412) $ (335
Long-term deferred income tax (510 (1,480
Net deferred income tax: $ (922 $ (1,81%)

A valuation allowance has been provided for certigferred tax assets since it is uncertain weredlize the entire benefit of the assets.
The decrease in the valuation allowance during 2085 due to a change in the estimate of the uiibizaf credit carry forwards. Included in
the valuation allowance at December 31, 2005 wasoapmately $0.4 million related to acquired tasdaand credit carry forwards, which if
utilized will reduce goodwill. These acquired taeniefits are subject to limitation by the provisiafisSection 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code. Also included in the valuation allowance atEBmber 31, 2005 was approximately $0.5 millioatesl to tax benefits generated on the
exercise of stock options, which will be recordéectly to equity when realized.

At December 31, 2005, we had alternative minimuxn(tAMT”), and research and experimentation (“R&Ei¢t credit carry forwards
for federal and state purposes of approximatel@ $@llion, available to offset future taxable incenThe carry forward period for the AMT
credit is unlimited. The R&E credit carry forwargenerally expire between 2006 and 2025.

60



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

As of December 31, 2005, we had available U.Sopetating loss carry forwards of approximately $28illion. The operating loss
carry forwards expire between 2006 and 2020. Thasy forwards may be used to offset future incaaxes payable at the federal and state
levels, if any, and are subject to review by th8.Unternal Revenue Service and various state geadrthorities.

The Company has provided reserves for certain tatkems, both domestic and foreign, which it belgegeuld result in additional tax
being due. Any additional assessment or reductidhese contingent liabilities will be reflectedtime Company’s effective tax rate in the
period that additional facts become known. Therastor tax uncertainties totaled approximatelyndilion as of December 31, 2005 and
2004.

The FASB has issued two FASB Staff Positions (“FSPRét provide accounting guidance on the effetth® American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004 (the “Act”) that was signed into law @ttober 22, 2004. The Act provides a deductiorifoome from qualified domestic
production activities, which will be phased in fr&@05 through 2010. The Act also creates a tempamnaentive for U.S. corporations to
repatriate foreign subsidiary earnings by providimgelective 85 percent dividends received dedudtocertain dividends from controlled
corporations. The deduction is subject to a nurobémitations and requirements, including a spieaifomestic reinvestment plan for the
repatriated funds.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff RosiNo. 1091, Application of FASB Statement No. 109 (SFAS 109)counting fo
Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on QualifieddBtion Activities Provided by the American Jobg&tion Act of 2004 (FSP 109-1),
which clarifies that the manufacturer’s deductioavided for under the Act should be accounted $oa apecial deduction in accordance with
SFAS 109 and not as a tax rate reduction. In addittn January 19, 2005, the U.S. Treasury puldlidlwtice 2005-14 providing guidance on
the implementation of the manufacturer’s deducti®esed on our current understanding of the Actbeleve that there is no current tax
benefit.

The FASB also issued FASB Staff Position No. 108&;ounting and Disclosure Guidance for the For&gnnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Ac26D4 (FSP 109-2). The Act introduces a temporaegisih dividends received deduction on
the repatriation of certain foreign earnings to.&.Uaxpayer, provided certain criteria are mete F8P 109-2 provides accounting and
disclosure guidance for the repatriation provision.January 13, 2005, the U.S. Treasury publishatit® 2005-10 providing guidance on the
implementation of the repatriation deduction. Neefgn dividends were repatriated during 2005, practhe expiration of the foreign earnings
repatriation provision of the Act on December 30102

As of December 31, 2005, a provision had not beadenfor the U.S. or additional foreign taxes o $4illion of undistributed earnings
of foreign subsidiaries that could be subject i@t@n if remitted to the U.S., because we plakeiep these amounts permanently reinvested
overseas.

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We sponsor a 401(k) defined contribution retirenpan for qualifying employees pursuant to whica tompany makes discretion:
matching profit sharing contributions. Company cilmttions under the plan totaled approximately $@iflion in 2005, $0.6 million in 2004,
and $0.6 million in 2003.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

8. SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Revenue
Gross profil

Income (loss) from operatiol
Income before provision for income ta»

Net income

Earnings per share, ba:
Earnings per share, diluti

Revenue
Gross profil

Income (loss) from operatiol
Income before provision for income tay

Net income

Earnings per share, ba:
Earnings per share, dilut

Revenue
Gross profil

Income from operation

Income before provision for income ta»
Net income

Earnings per share, ba:

Earnings per share, dilut

2005

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

1st Quarter

2nd Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

3rd Quarter

4th Quarter

$ 24,23( $ 23,78¢ $ 26,84¢ $ 27,14

16,59¢ 15,65¢ 17,47( 16,647

(700) (130 1,827 (486)

17z 481 3,13¢ 81¢

73 35€ 1,371 2,91¢

$ 0.0C $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ 0.0¢

$ 0.0C $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ 0.0¢
2004

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

$ 24,65¢ $ 24,04 $ 21,52¢ $ 26,237
17,917 17,92¢ 14,99¢ 19,12¢
1,67¢ 2,507 (321) 1,87¢
2,682 3,28 1,141 4,024
1,74z 2,12 741 2,94¢
$ 0.0f $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0z $ 0.0¢
$ 0.0% $ 0.0€ $ 0.0z $ 0.0¢
2003
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

$ 25,62¢
19,14:
6,331
7,704
6,80
$ 0.2C
$ 0.1¢
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(in thousands, except per share data

$ 25,48 $ 25,111
18,87 17,63:
4,17¢ 3,59t
5,91¢ 5,23¢
3,91¢ 3,441

$ 011 $ 0.1C
$ 011 $ 0.1C

$ 23,09(
16,247
564
2,97(C
3,51¢
$ 0.1cC
$ 0.4cC
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ITEM 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and ProceduitOur management, with the participation of our Cleigécutive Officer, o
CEO, and Chief Financial Officer, or CFO, evaluatteg effectiveness of our disclosure controls amdgdures (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Excharageas of December 31, 2005. In designing and edimlg our disclosure controls and
procedures, our management recognized that anyot®and procedures, no matter how well designedogrerated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectargs our management necessarily applied its judgmesvaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedurese on this evaluation, our CEO and CFO concltitgt as of December 31, 2005,
our disclosure controls and procedures were nettfe as of that date, for the reasons describéab

Consistent with our sales strategy of selling senafitial licenses to target accounts, and theusag on opportunities for larg
follow-on sales after the customer has realizedness value from our software, we are increasioffigring our customers an option as
part of the initial license agreement to purchalditanal software products or additional licengghts in the future at discount. These
options may allow the customer to extend the ugg®fiously delivered software for additional usées different purposes, or in a
different environment, or may allow the customeptiochase additional, not previously deliveredwafe. While these options are
frequently similar in structure, they sometimeséamique features as a result of negotiations thighcustomer. During the fourth qual
of 2005, the Company’s revenue accounting staff mesufficiently versed in interpreting the accting literature as it related to one
variation of these options. As a result, two castgavhich contained this variation were not propeadcounted for in our initial
consolidated trial balance. This error was firgiedoand brought to the attention of managementubynalependent registered public
accounting firm in connection with their audit afr@2005 financial statements.

Specifically, the two contracts initially allowelet customer to use the software in a non-produeiironment and, in each case,
provided the customer with an option, for an adddl fee, to use the same software in a produettmironment. The discounts on the
options for expanded use in a production envirortmeme more than insignificant and incrementahi discount on the initial license.
Since the options related to software deliverdtha@time of the initial license, the company ifltiaconcluded that delivery was complete
and the exercise of the option by customer woultstitute purchases of additional copies of prodabtsady licensed by and delivered to
the customer under the same arrangement, whichdwvmtlrequire accounting for the options as a sgépalement. However, because
license for use in a production environment iseftgctive until the option is exercised by the oasér, and is different than the license
for use in a nomproduction environment, the option does not repreadditional copies of products licensed by thet@mer and therefo
the option should be accounted for as a separatecglt. Upon determination that an undelivered et¢reeisted as of December 31,
2005, the Company determined it was appropriateugénerally accepted accounting principles tordetetal of $1.0 million of
revenue, representing the incremental discountcéged with the options, until the options are eis&d or expire in 2006.

In addition, management had identified a signiftadaficiency as of December 31, 2004 related taffident technical review and
supervision of tax decisions including variousrasties. The Company made meaningful progress aduyebe deficiency during 2005.
We added additional technical resources to assistel preparation and review of our tax decisids.also improved the underlying tax
preparation and review procedures. Nonethelessf, Recember 31, 2005, management determined, hgsedcertain adjustments to «
tax provision that were required in the fourth geaof 2005, that were significant but not matetiaht a significant deficiency still
existed in this area. Due to these adjustmentgydkential for further misstatements and the faat the significant deficiency was not
remediated after one year, management deemed ttmlodeficiency to be a material weakness.
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The accounting issues related to these materidkvesaes have been resolved and our financial statsrin this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and previous filings reflect the apprapei accounting.

We have determined that, under the Public Compagpénting Oversight Board's Auditing Standard Nar2l the prior relevant
professional auditing standards, the deficienceescdbed above reflect material weaknesses inntenrial control over financial
reporting. That Standard defines a “material weakhas a significant deficiency, or a combinatidsignificant deficiencies, that results
in there being a more than remote likelihood thatagerial misstatement of the annual or interinafficial statements will not be
prevented or detected.

To address the material weakness described abatmgeto revenue recognition, we intend to aslesexpertise of our staff
responsible for revenue recognition and addressdemyified deficiencies. In particular, we planitaprove our ability to identify when
customer contracts contain non-standard featuresalé intend to improve our research protocohapwe more fully understand the
applicable accounting for such features.

To address the material weakness described ablatmgeto tax decisions, we will augment the revigwd supervision procedures
recently adopted (e.g. retention of third partyertige to conduct quarterly and year-end reviewwftax decisions and estimates), with
additional training and use of enhanced tax prejperaoftware.

(b) Managemens report on Internal Control over Financial Repaorgi and Attestation of Independent Registered Putdounting
Firm . The report of our management regarding interaatrol over financial reporting and the attestatieport of our independent
registered public accounting firm are includedtem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K startimgpage36 .

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial RepogdilNo change in internal control over financial repagt(as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exgeafsict) occurred during the fiscal quarter endedddeber 31, 2005 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, our internal control over financiaporting.

ITEM9B OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is omittBdm this annual report as we will file a proxatgment for our Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, pursuant to Regulation 14A of theuites Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, not tater 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year covered by this Report, and certain informmatiecluded in that proxy statement is incorpordtetein by referenct

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item is containedler the heading “Executive Officers of the Regist’ in Part | of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, and the remainder is contained inpaky statement for our 2006 Annual Stockholdeeelhg under the heading “Election of
Directors,” and is incorporated herein by referemgrmation relating to certain filings on Forr@s4, and 5 is contained in our 2006 proxy
statement under the heading “Section 16(a) Bemf@ivnership Reporting Compliance,” and is incogted herein by reference. Information
required by this item pursuant to Items 401(h),(®0&nd 401(j) of Regulation S-K relating to ardéwcommittee financial expert, the
identification of the audit committee of our boafddirectors and procedures of security holder®t@mmend nominees to our board of
directors is contained in our 2006 proxy statemuwter the heading “Corporate Governance” and isrparated herein by reference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thatieppd all of our employees, including our prindipgecutive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer oontroller, or persons performing similar functions
ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is contaimedur proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Meetirigstockholders under the headi
“Directors Compensation” and “Executive Compensgt@nd is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is contaifedur proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Stockleos Meeting under the headings
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldnanagement” and “Securities Authorized for Issisaander Equity Compensation
Plans” and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is contaimedur proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Meetirfigstockholders under the heading
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsg’'ianncorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is contaimeaur proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Stockleos Meeting under the heading
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fasd Other Matters” and is incorporated hereindigrence.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following are filed as part of this AnniReport on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statemen:
The following consolidated financial statementsiacduded in Item 8

Page
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &00300¢ 41
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years@iecember 31, 2005, 2004, and 2 42

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years efldsmmber 31, 2005, 20(
and 200: 43
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraled December 31, 2005, 2004, and - 44
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 45

(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtereceding such exhibits are filed as part of &msual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted beedhe required information is not present or mesent in sufficient amounts to requ
submission of the schedule or because the infooméireflected in the consolidated financial stegats or notes thereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiant has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its beH&by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

P EGASYSTEMSI NC.

By: /s|  CHRISTOPHERS ULLIVAN
Christopher Sullivan
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer an@ireasurer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

Date: March 7, 2006

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exa@mge Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been signed below on
March 7, 2006 by the following persons on behalf dhe Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ ALAN T REFLER Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(principal executive officer)
Alan Trefler
/s/ CHRISTOPHERS ULLIVAN Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer dandasurer

(principal financial and accounting officer)
Christopher Sullivan

/sl  RicHARD H. JONES Vice Chairman and Director

Richard H. Jones

/sl ALEXANDER V. D’A RBELOFF Director

Alexander V. d’Arbeloff

/sl STEVENF. K APLAN Director

Steven F. Kaplan

/s/  WiLLiam H. K EOUGH Director

William H. Keough

/s/ EDWARD A. M AYBURY Director

Edward A. Maybury

/s/  JamMESP. C'H ALLORAN Director

James P. O’Halloran

/sl WiLLiam W YMAN Director

William Wyman
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Exhibit No.

3.3

3.4

4.1

10.1++

10.2++

10.3++

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7++

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
Exhibit Index

Description

Restated Articles of Organization, of the Regidtréfiled as exhibit 99.2 to the Registr's June 2, 2005 Forn-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

Restated By-Laws of the Registrant. (Filed as exBi®.3 to the Registrant’s June 2, 2005 Form 83K encorporated
herein by reference

Specimen Certificate Representing the Common S{édled as exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Regt#braStatement on
Form &1 (Registration No. 3:-03807) or an amendment thereto and incorporatezirhby reference

Amended and Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Pled in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for2i@®3 annual
stockholders meeting and incorporated herein sreefce.’

1996 Nol-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (Filed in Registrar’s Proxy Statement for its 2000 annual stockho
meeting and incorporated herein by referen

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Filed in Regi’s Proxy Statement for its 2003 annual stockholdesting anc
incorporated herein by referenc

Lease Agreement dated February 26, 1993 betwedRebistrant and Riverside Office Park Joint Vent{ifded as exhibi
10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statemerffammn S-1 (Registration No. 333-03807) or an amesmdrthereto and
incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 1 to Lease Agreement dated Augyst994 between the Registrant and Riverside ©fiark Join
Venture. (Filed as exhibit 10.14 to the RegistmiRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration333-03807) or an
amendment thereto and incorporated herein by reter}

Agreement and Release dated November 2, 2001 bpetneen the Registrant and Carreker Corporatkiled as exhibit
10.17 to the Registrant’s 2001 Form 10-K. Configriteatment requested as to certain portionsimeatporated herein
by reference.

Executive Employment Agreement dated July 25, 2t¥i%veen Registrant and Henry Ancona. (Filed ashéxh0.1 to the
Registrar’s September 30, 2002 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 29, 2002&etRegistrant and 1mind Corporation. (Filed dshbéx2.0 to the
Registrar’s February 21, 2002 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Refreshed Software License and Support Agreemeatiddarch 1, 2002 by and between the Registrantinst Data
Resources Inc. (Filed as exhibit 10.1 to the Regyists March 31, 2002 Form 10-Q. Confidential treant requested as to
certain portions and incorporated herein by refezé

Amendment Number 8 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2@B12 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfror@ L{Filed as
exhibit 10.23 to the Registrés 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Letter Amendment to Lease Agreement dated Jul2B@02 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfront L(Eied as
exhibit 10.24 to the Registrés 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc
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Exhibit No

Description

10.12++

10.13++

10.14

10.15

10.16++
10.17++
10.18++
10.19

10.20++

10.21++

10.22++

10.23++

211

+23.1
+31.1
+31.2
+32.1
+32.2

2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Registranite¢Fin Registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 200vh@al stockholders
meeting and incorporated herein by referen

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement. (Filedalsibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s September 30, 20040 and
incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Noi-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement. (Fileceakibit 10.2 to the Registre s September 30, 2004-Q
and incorporated herein by referenc

Warrant Agreement dated July 12, 2004 between #ggsitant and International Business Machines Catmm. (Filed a:
exhibit 10.3 to the Registre's September 30, 2004-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Dougl&sd. dated October 19, 20C
Offer Letter between the Registrant and Micha&Vallrich dated October 22, 20C
Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwbkerRegistrant and Henry Ancona dated Februa2pd5.

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. (Filad Exhibit 99.1 to the Registr’s April 11, 2005 Form-K and
incorporated by reference herei

2005 Section 16 Officers Corporate Incentive Conspénn Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Regig’s April 27, 200t
Form &K and incorporated by reference here

Notice of Grant Stock Options and Option Agreem§fited as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registr's June 2, 2005 Form 8-K and
incorporated reference herei

2006 Section 16 Officers Corporate Incentive Corspéion Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the RegigtsaDecember 8, 20!
Form &K and incorporated by reference here

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Edward lghes dated February 21, 2006 (filed as Exhib2 89the Registra’s
February 27, 2006 Fornm-K and incorporated by reference here

Subsidiaries of the Registrant. (Filed as exhitittzo the Registra’s 2003 Form 1-K and incorporated herein |
reference.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting—Deloitte & Touche LLP
Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Executive Office
Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Financial Office
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135@hef Chief Executive Office

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135thef Chief Financial Officel

++ Management contracts and compensatory plan orgenaents required to be filed pursuant to Iltem 18{¢jorm 1(-K.
+ Filed herewitt



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement Nos. 333-09305, 333-53746, 83837, 333-104788, and 333-
116660 of Pegasystems Inc. on Form S-8 of our temlated March 3, 2006, relating to the finandiatesnents of Pegasystems Inc. and
management’s report on the effectiveness of intewratrol over financial reporting (which reportrsses an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting because of material weaknesses), appedrinis Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Pegasystems Inc. for the year ended December 85, 20

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 7, 2006



Exhibit 31.1

[, Alan Trefler, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Pegasystems Inc

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesomiain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fa
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this annual rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this aahuveport, fairly present in a
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this
annual report

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this annual report is beinggared

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis annual report our conclusic
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this annual report any change in éigéstran’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdrhon our most recent evaluation of internal @mver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of registrant’s board of directors persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 7, 2006

/s/  ALAN T REFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2

[, Christopher Sullivan, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Pegasystems Inc

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesomiain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fa
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this annual rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this aahuveport, fairly present in a
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this
annual report

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this annual report is beinggared

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis annual report our conclusic
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this annual report any change in éigéstran’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdrhon our most recent evaluation of internal @mver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of registrant’s board of directors persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmhcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 7, 2006

/s/ CHRISTOPHERS ULLIVAN

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer andlreasurer
(principal financial and accounting officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystéms(the Company) on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Alan Trefler, the&@tman and Chief Executive Officer of
Pegasystems Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.Cti@e 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90beSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSetction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/  ALAN T REFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: March 7, 2006

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to Pegasystanand will be retained by
Pegasystems Inc. and furnished to the Securitié€anhange Commission or its staff upon request



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystéms(the Company) on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2005 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordé#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Christopher Sulliyéime Senior Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer of Pegasystems trctify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dmspéed pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
the Company

/s CHRISTOPHERS ULLIVAN
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer andlreasurer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

Dated: March 7, 2006

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to Pegasystenarid will be retained by
Pegasystems Inc. and furnished to the Securitié€anhange Commission or its staff upon reqt



